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The service we provide to 2.52 million households and
153,000 business premises is essential to daily life in
Scotland.
The quality of drinking water we provide to customers has
been sustained at a high level and our investment helps to
support jobs and economic growth while protecting and
enhancing the environment.

During the six years of our investment period 2015-21,
we plan to invest around £3.9 billion in maintaining and
replacing our infrastructure and in delivering further
improvements to drinking water quality, protecting the
environment and supporting the Scottish economy. In
2017/18, the third year of that programme, we invested
a total of £647 million.

Customer charges go towards maintaining and improving:

miles of water pipes

water treatment works

32,940

1,826

miles of sewer pipes

waste water treatment works

Financials

30,246 242

Governance

We do all of this at a cost which is among the lowest in Great
Britain. Our average household charge is £42 lower per year
than the average household charge in England and Wales.

Strategic report

Every day, we deliver 1.38 billion litres of clear, fresh drinking water and take
away 929 million litres of waste water which we treat and return safely to the
environment.

Overview

Scottish Water’s vital role
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Our business model

Who we are

Strategic framework

Scottish Water was formed in 2002 following the merger
of the three regional water authorities in Scotland and is
a public sector body, classified as a public corporation of
a trading nature, answerable to the Scottish Parliament
through Scottish Ministers. Consequently, Scottish Water
does not have shareholders. This ownership model allows
the surplus generated to be reinvested in the provision of
services to our customers.

Scottish Water operates within a broad strategic framework
set by Scottish Ministers. The agreed targets and milestones
for Scottish Water and its non-regulated business are set
out in our Group Plan. The Group Plan also sets out the
resources required and proposals for meeting and
out-performing the regulatory targets. Scottish Water aims
to maintain a level of financial strength that would be
sufficient to enable it to secure commercial debt on
cost-effective terms, consistent with the Water Industry
(Scotland) Act 2002.

Group overview
The principal activities during the year were the supply of
water and waste water services to around 5 million
customers in homes and businesses across Scotland
covering an area of 30,810 square miles.
Scottish Water’s regulated business supplies water and
waste water services to households and is also the
wholesaler to the retailers (Licensed Providers) who operate
in the water retail market for businesses in Scotland. Within
the Scottish Water group, our subsidiary, Business Stream,
operates as a Licensed Provider (LP), competing with other
LPs in the market to supply water and waste water retail
services to business customers. The group also provides
non-regulated and other commercial services to clients both
within Scotland and internationally.

Group structure
Scottish Water’s principal subsidiary undertakings, all of
which are disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements,
have their own boards of directors.
The Members of Scottish Water’s Board are accountable
to the Scottish Government. Details of the current Board
Members are provided on pages 48 to 49.
Business Stream is operated in accordance with the
Governance Code (agreed with the Water Industry
Commission for Scotland (WICS)). The code sets out the
operating regime that Scottish Water and Business Stream
must comply with to enable the operation of the licensed
retail market. Business Stream has the same Chair as
Scottish Water but has its own independent Board and
management team. Scottish Water exercises governance
over Business Stream through Scottish Water Business
Stream Holdings Ltd (SWBSH) in accordance with the
above code.

Scottish Water generates value for our customers by
planning for, and delivering, continuous efficiency
improvements in operational and capital investment
activities associated with regulated water and waste water
services. The planned efficiency improvements therefore
allow for below inflation increases in charges for customers,
as set out in the WICS final determination for the 2015–21
period. The value generated by the out-performance of
these efficiency targets is retained in Scottish Water until it
is returned to customers through further improvements in
service or the level of customer charges at the next strategic
review of charges.
The profits generated from the other licensed and
commercial activities are all retained within the group and
invested in the future development of the business.

What we do
Our vision is to be trusted to care for the water on which
Scotland depends (see page 8), and our customers expect
us to provide excellent customer service by delivering high
levels of water quality and environmental performance, all
for an affordable price.
Using Scotland’s natural resources and the skills of our
people, Scottish Water is committed to improving our
services for customers and communities while protecting
and enhancing the environment of Scotland. How we do
this is covered in more detail in the following sections:
Environment

pages 30 to 32

People

pages 42 to 44

Community matters
Customer service

page 45
pages 20 to 22
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Human rights

page 44

Anti-corruption and anti-bribery

page 44

Financial framework
The Scottish Water regulated business is subject to
incentive-based regulation by the WICS.
In 2014, the WICS carried out a six year price review for the
2015–21 period, which caps the prices that Scottish Water
charge for water and waste water services. The combination
of regulated price caps and constraints on borrowing from
the Scottish Government creates a clearly defined limit on
the financing available to Scottish Water.

The diagram below illustrates Scottish Water’s funding and
expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2018. The surplus
made by Scottish Water is reinvested in the provision of
services to customers.

Scottish Water Funding and Expenditure 2017/18
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1,000
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200
0

£m

Funding
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in Working capital)
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Capital Investment
	Regulated operating costs
PFI
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Financials

Within this financial framework, Scottish Water has an
agreed Delivery Plan with Scottish Ministers that sets out
our planned level of investment to deliver the required
improvements and the expenditure to run the operation
in respect of our core water and waste water services.
Scottish Water’s aim is to out-perform the targets set out in
the Delivery Plan and thereby out-perform the regulatory
contract.

Scottish Water is funded through revenue raised from
customer charges and borrowing from the Scottish
Government. These finance Scottish Water’s investment
programme, operating costs, Private Finance Initiative
service fees and interest charges on loans.

Governance

The key performance indicators used throughout the
business to measure financial and non-financial
performance are detailed throughout the annual report
in the relevant sections.

The funding and expenditure model for
Scottish Water’s Regulated Services

Strategic report

In accordance with the Non-Financial Reporting
Regulations, additional information on Scottish Water’s
policies and training in respect of the following items are
detailed:
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Our vision

Scottish Water’s vision is to be trusted to care for the water on
which Scotland depends. This is supported through six pillars.
Serving

Growing

Showing our customers that we care.
Achieving year on year improvements in
their experience of our service and having
a positive impact on customers and
communities.

Enabling a thriving Scotland. Supporting
developers as a leading infrastructure
partner, seeking innovative and low cost
solutions for businesses to grow in
Scotland, and supporting an efficient
supply chain through world class
procurement.

Leading

Responsible

Shaping our future for the benefit of
customers. Listening to our customers,
being proactive, working with customers,
landowners, local authorities and
developers to deliver even more efficient
services.

Always doing the right thing for Scotland.
Providing ever better drinking water,
implementing plans to boost water
supply resilience to communities, fulfilling
our environmental obligations and
reducing our carbon footprint.

Strong

Committed

Working hard to keep customers’ prices
low. Delivering savings to keep household
customer price increases below the
overall level of inflation.

Behaving safely and having agile, healthy
people and workplaces. Building our skills
and diversity to sustain high performance.

9
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Our strategy

We do this in an affordable and sustainable way.
•W
 e put customers at the heart of our plans. Listening to
customers’ views and building these into our planning
allows us to ensure our service delivery meets their
needs.

•W
 e work hard to provide continuous clear and fresh
drinking water, ensuring all our customers can turn on
their taps to receive a safe and reliable supply,
everywhere in Scotland.
•W
 e strive to protect and enhance the environment of
Scotland through investment in our waste water
systems and good operational practices.

This annual report highlights our progress during 2017/18.
Information on our plans for service improvement from
2015–21 is included on page 46.

• Ambition 1: Delivering a consistently leading customer
experience.
• Ambition 2: Keeping customer prices low by driving for
further innovation and efficiency and through smart
investment choices.
• Ambition 3: Increasing the reliability, resilience and
sustainability of all our services.
The Shaping the Future consultation runs until August 2018,
and can be completed at www.yourwater.scot

Financials

•W
 e support Scotland’s economy and communities by
extending our infrastructure to meet new demand for
our services.

In February 2018, we launched Shaping the Future, our
consultation to seek customers’ and stakeholders’ views on
the future of their water and waste water services, and their
thoughts on the challenges, opportunities and ambitions
that we have identified. This consultation sets out our intent,
and our three long-term ambitions, to achieve a level where
our services are truly reliable and sustainable for future
generations:

Governance

•W
 e are committed to improving the services we
provide to customers. Our strategies help us achieve
this and we innovate to further improve performance
and efficiency.

Our ambitions

Strategic report

We deliver clear and fresh drinking water, treat waste water and help protect
Scotland’s environment – every day of the year.
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Delivering ministerial objectives
2015–21
Scottish Ministers set objectives for Scottish Water for the period 1 April 2015
to 31 March 2021. This annual report looks at the third year of the delivery
period – 2017/18.
Our Delivery Plan for 2015–21 is geared towards achieving
these objectives while preparing for the key challenges and
opportunities facing Scotland’s water industry, including
building increasingly resilient water and waste water services
and dealing with climate change.
Our plan reflects the priorities and expectations of our
customers following extensive research and consultation
with them, discussions with the Customer Forum for Water
(established to represent the interests of customers
in the 2015–2021 Strategic Review of Charges) and
stakeholders including the Water Industry Commission for
Scotland (WICS), Drinking Water Quality Regulator (DWQR),
Scottish Environment Protection Agency (SEPA), Citizens
Advice Scotland (CAS) and the Scottish Government. This
plan will address our customers’ highest priorities for service
improvement such as; improvements to drinking water
quality, reducing flooding and addressing visible leakage
from water pipes.
A major aspect of our long-term plan in 2015–21 and
beyond is to increase the resilience of the services we
provide so that all customers can rely upon a consistently
high standard of service. Ministers consulted with the
DWQR, WICS, SEPA and CAS before making the following
Directions for 2015–21:
•H
 elping to sustain better and more efficient public
services by ensuring assets are maintained and
improving services to customers.
•H
 elping people sustain and improve their health
through the provision of continued, high quality
drinking water and improving resilience.
•C
 ontributing to improvements in Scotland’s natural
and built environment and the sustainable use and
enjoyment of it.

• Supporting the delivery of the Government’s priorities
in rural communities with a view to improving water
and waste water provision in rural areas.
• Servicing demand for new strategic capacity to meet
all new housing development and the domestic
requirements of commercial and industrial customers.
• Improving Scotland’s resilience to climate change by
identifying possible impacts and, where appropriate,
investing to manage these impacts.
• Contributing to Scotland meeting its climate change
obligations of reduced greenhouse gas emissions.
• Taking all necessary steps to fulfil duties and
obligations set out in the Flood Risk Management
(Scotland) Act 2009.
More information on our plans for the future can be found
in the Looking Ahead section on page 46.
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In order to efficiently and effectively manage opportunities
and threats across the Scottish Water business, we embrace
a systematic and structured approach to risk management.
Our approach is based on the principles of the International
Standard 31000 Risk Management (ISO 31000) and is
tailored to meet the needs of our business and the
environment in which we operate; and was independently
audited in March 2017.
Our approach is designed to provide assurance that the
opportunities and threats facing the business are being
appropriately identified, assessed and effectively managed;
and that all necessary information is reported to managers,
the Executive Leadership Team, Audit Committee and
Board.

Risk management approach
Scottish Water has an established risk management policy
which underwent a refresh in August 2017. This policy sets
out a clear and consistent approach to the management of
risk and defines our risk appetite. This is enabled by the
Corporate Risk Register and supporting risk management
processes.
Our systematic and structured risk management approach
is designed to identify, assess and effectively manage
business risks. The consequence and likelihood of risks are
determined and scored using a risk scoring matrix which is
aligned to our risk appetite. This ensures a consistent
approach is taken when assessing the overall impact to
Scottish Water and our customers. When forming this
assessment, the business considers risks aligned to four risk
perspectives. These are managing our assets, working with
people, managing external influences and developing the
business. The current, or projected, level of risk is compared
to the Board’s risk appetite to ascertain whether further
action is required to ensure the achievement of service
delivery and business objectives in line with our vision and
risk appetite.

Culture
The Board is aware that the effectiveness of risk
management is dependent on Scottish Water’s culture,
which encompasses the knowledge, beliefs and attitudes of
our people. We aim to foster a risk-aware culture throughout
the business. We seek to do this by promoting a consistent
tone from the top, outlining clear responsibilities and
accountabilities for those managing risk, recognising
individuals managing risk effectively and who share and
report risk information in a timely manner.

Scottish Water Annual Report and Accounts 2017/2018

Risk appetite
The level of risk we are willing to accept in the pursuit of our
business objectives is reviewed and validated by the Board
in advance of, and during, each regulatory period or where
there is a material change to the operating environment.
We have established Risk Appetite Statements for key
business areas. Beneath each statement is a series of
measurable Risk Appetite Definitions which assist in
providing a view as to whether we are operating within our
appetite or whether additional risk action may be required.
These metrics are routinely reviewed by the Corporate Risk
Team and individual risk owners, and are incorporated into
bi-annual reports to the Executive Leadership Team and
Audit Committee, and the annual report to the Board. The
appropriateness of the mitigating actions is determined in
accordance with the risk appetite for the relevant business
areas.

Board
The Board has overall responsibility for reviewing
governance, risk and compliance. The Board receives an
annual risk report, supplemented by quarterly updates,
which review the principal risks and uncertainties, including
the mitigating actions being undertaken and their
effectiveness.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee assumes responsibility for the risk
management framework on behalf of the Board, reviewing
the effectiveness of risk management and supporting
control systems. The Committee receives two risk reports
per year, supplemented by quarterly updates.

Executive Leadership Team
The Executive Leadership Team is responsible for
establishing, maintaining and reviewing risk management
and supporting control systems. The Executive Leadership
Team receives regular risk reporting. A number of Executive
sub-committees assist with oversight of specific risk areas.
These include the Business Ethics Committee which meets
quarterly to address fraud and corruption risks and issues;
the Regulatory Management Group which meets monthly
to address regulatory risks and issues; and the Investment
Group which also meets monthly to address investment
risks, issues and dependencies.
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Scottish Water has a Corporate Risk Function. This is
headed by a General Manager, reporting to the Finance
Director, who leads and manages the risk management
framework and processes and is responsible for risk
reporting and advice to the Executive Leadership Team,
Audit Committee and the Board.

Audit

Three Lines of Defence
Scottish Water operates a Three Lines of Defence model
with clearly defined roles and responsibilities. This model
ensures the effectiveness of the risk management
framework by providing key governance groups with
appropriate assessment, monitoring and assurance at three
different points.

Principal risks and uncertainties
At the time of this report, the Board has carried out a
robust assessment of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing Scottish Water and our subsidiaries, as set out over
the following pages. These are the risks that we presently
consider to be the most material to our business and our
performance, including those that would threaten the
business model, future performance within our regulatory
settlement, solvency and liquidity of Scottish Water.
This list does not comprise all of the risks that the Group
may face and is not provided in any order of priority. The
nature of these risks has remained largely unchanged over
the year. There may be additional risks that could emerge
in the future.
We have also commented on key mitigating actions that
are employed to manage these risks as well as our risk
appetite in each of the risk areas.

Audit Committee & Board
Senior Management

3rd Line of Defence

Management
Controls

Risk Management

Internal Audit

Regulators

2nd Line of Defence

External Audit

1st Line of Defence

Financials

1. F
 irst line of defence – each business area is
responsible for the identification and assessment of
risks, understanding and adopting appropriate
controls.

3. Third line of defence – audit provides an
independent and objective assurance of the
robustness of the risk management framework and
the appropriateness of internal controls.

Governance

Assurance on risk controls is provided by internal
management information, internal audits, external audits
and Board oversight. There is also an externally supported
whistleblowing facility.

2. S
 econd line of defence – risk management provides
challenge on the completeness and accuracy of risk
assessments, considers the adequacy of mitigation
plans and enables risk reporting.

Strategic report

Corporate risk
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Scottish Water Group
principal risks and uncertainties
Risk or
Uncertainty Trend

Description

Risk Appetite

Key Mitigations

Risk of provision of water
to customers which has the
potential to have an immediate
impact on health.

As a water utility company,
provision of safe drinking water
remains our highest priority.

–S
 killed and trained employees
operate our water assets.
– Routine monitoring of the
water in our catchments, and in
our treatment and distribution
activities.
– Routine testing on water
quality (beyond regulatory
requirements) to manage
drinking water quality and
minimise associated risks.
– Delivering significant
investment to further improve
water quality.
– Detailed emergency response
plans.

Managing Our
Assets
Water Quality

The most recent DWQR Annual Report reported compliance with water quality standards at 99.91%
demonstrating the continuing high quality of drinking water that consumers in Scotland receive.
Significant investment has continued across 2017/18 to further improve water quality.
Cyber
Security

Operational risk from loss of
key IT service arising from a
deliberate external or internal
attack (physical/virtual).

Scottish Water seeks to ensure
the integrity and security of its IT
estate.

–O
 rganisation-wide education
and awareness programme
rolled out.
– External Expert Vulnerability
and Threat Management
service utilised.
–S
 ecurity gap analysis
undertaken, plans and funding
in place to further increase
security level.
– Regular application of updates
to software and security
products.
– Detailed disaster recovery
plans.
– Participate in UK & Scottish
Government and industry cyber
incident exercises.
– Achieving and retaining
ISO 27001 certification for
Scottish Water Data Centres.
– Meeting the requirements of
the Network and Information
Systems Directive (NIS) and the
Scottish Government Public
Sector Action Plan.

While the water industry has not been subject to a notable attack in 2017/18, we note that the number
of cyber-attacks continues to increase in the UK and globally. As an “operator of an essential service”,
Scottish Water is required under the NIS to take appropriate and proportionate security measures to
manage risks to our network and information systems, and report serious incidents to the relevant
national authority.
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Risk Appetite

Key Mitigations

Risk to service to customers
arising from failure of a critical
asset or assets.

Delivering a continuous service
to our customers is paramount.

– Developing detailed
knowledge and understanding
of our critical assets.
– Undertaking operational
inspections, maintenance and
emergency planning activities
to minimise the risk and
consequences of failure.
– Identifying investment to
reduce this risk for promotion
in our future investment
programmes.
– Meeting the requirements of
the Network and Information
Systems Directive (NIS) and the
Scottish Government Public
Sector Action Plan.

Managing Our
Assets (Cont.)
Critical Assets

Strategic Water
Mains

Risk arising from failure of key/
strategic water mains resulting
in significant water damage to
surrounding properties and/or
infrastructure.

Delivering a continuous service
to our customers is paramount.
Scottish Water seeks to
minimise adverse impacts to
our customers.

– Identify locations where
previous bursts have caused
flooding and develop options
to mitigate risk exposures.
– Delivering mitigations at known
historic flooding locations.
– Developing policy on
management of flooding risk
from current infrastructure for
new developments.
– Securing further investment to
address via strategic planning
process (SR21).

Historic high-profile flooding locations are being reviewed and addressed, with further work to identify
wider flooding risks. This work remains at an early stage in developing methodology, with assessments
still to be carried out and investment required to address.

Financials

During 2017/18, investigations have continued to identify critical assets and better inform our short and
long-term strategies. As this work continues, our awareness of our risk exposure will increase. Over the
long-term, and with sustained investment in inspections, maintenance, and network connectivity, our
risk exposure will reduce. Until all key mitigations are in place however, we will remain exposed to service
impacts.

Governance

Description

Strategic report

Risk or
Uncertainty Trend
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Scottish Water Group
principal risks and uncertainties
Risk or
Uncertainty Trend

Description

Risk Appetite

Key Mitigations

Risk of failure to deal with
the impact of extreme and
unpredictable weather events
on our assets, infrastructure and
services.

As a water utility company,
provision of safe drinking water
remains our highest priority.

– Undertaking a Scottish Water
climate change risk assessment.
– Undertaking climate change
vulnerability assessments.
– Delivering capital investment
in our water and waste water
assets.
– Publication of an annual
Sustainability Report.
– Participation in projects and
studies of which the outputs
inform our strategic plans.

Managing Our
Assets (Cont.)
Climate Change

Risk of changes to future water
resource supply and demand due
to climate change.

Delivering a continuous service
to our customers is paramount.
Scottish Water seeks to treat and
return waste water in a way that
does not harm the environment.

Climate change and more variable weather patterns are anticipated to continue to present a challenge
across the water industry in future years, including the volume of water available.
Data Protection

Risk of failure to adequately
manage data protection, in
particular the new obligations
arising from the EU General Data
Protection Regulation.

Scottish Water seeks to
safeguard customer and
employee data by complying
with relevant standards.

– Reviewing and launching
of policies, processes and
guidelines.
– Raising awareness of GDPR
requirements across
Scottish Water.
–P
 roducing and publishing
corporate privacy notices.
– Developing and communicating
a process to ensure breaches
are identified and reported in
a timely manner.

As the data security landscape continues to mature, Scottish Water has undertaken significant work
to improve data protection practices to ensure compliance with the new and changing standards. For
example, the introduction of the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), introduces additional
obligations.
Working with People
Health & Safety

Risk arising from our assets,
activities and actions resulting
in an impact on the health and
safety of our people, contractors,
supply chain and/or customers.

The health and safety of our
people, including contractors,
partners and the public remains
paramount.

– Detailed health and safety
management system and
supporting processes.
– Embedding of health and
safety in our culture and
processes via training and
awareness raising.
– Completion of risk assessments
and regular inspections.
– Investigating all accidents
and incidents and tracking of
necessary remedial actions.
–R
 egular health and safety
reporting to key governance
groups.

Health and safety risk continues to be closely managed and mitigated given the inherent risks faced by our
business. Health and Safety is a continuing area of strong focus in 2018/19.
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Risk Appetite

Key Mitigations

Financial and operational risk
should a PFI plant or operations
fail to deliver in accordance with
the contract terms.

Scottish Water seeks to deliver
services in an efficient and
cost-effective manner including
via a number of PFI waste water
contracts.

– Maintaining ongoing strong
relationships with the PFI
companies.
– Monitoring and management
of PFI company performance.
– Undertaking deep dive PFI
plant audits.
– Developing contingency plans
for both the financing and
operation of these contracts as
they enter their final stages.

Developing the
Business
PFI Operations

There were no material changes to the risk faced across the PFI portfolio in 2017/18. Plans are under way
to consider our approach to the maturity of these contracts as they enter their final stages over the 2021–27
regulatory period.
Business Stream

Business Stream will maintain a
financially viable retail business.

– Increased scale through
targeted acquisition of
customers to dilute cost to
serve.
– Targeted acquisition of
customers in both the English
and Scottish markets, for future
profit growth.
–C
 ontinued transformation of
customer service and cost base.
– Improvements to English
market customer data sets and
payment arrangements.
– New regulatory framework
providing additional tools to
manage vacant charging risks.

The Scottish market remains very competitive. The new retail market in England provides access to
£2.5 billion of revenue opportunity. As anticipated, the market environment is complex, with low margins
available, data quality issues and complex wholesale tariff arrangements.

Financials

Risk of reducing value of the
business due to competitive
market conditions and the
complex operating environment
in the newly opened English
retail market.

Governance

Description

Strategic report

Risk or
Uncertainty Trend
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Scottish Water Group
principal risks and uncertainties
In addition to the high impact risks listed previously, we
also actively manage a number of other high consequence
but lower likelihood risks. Examples of these include:
•F
 inancial and operational risk and opportunity arising
from constitutional change.
•S
 ervice, reputational and financial risk arising from
infrastructure diversions required to facilitate major
highway construction.
•R
 eputational and financial risk arising from
non-compliance with the EU Urban Waste Water
Treatment Directive.
•S
 ervice and financial risk arising from contractors not
fulfilling their obligations/liabilities.
Notwithstanding our integrated approach to risk
management, we acknowledge that we may not always
be successful in fully mitigating all our known risks. In the
event that a risk materialises, service to customers could
be affected. In this situation, we will enact our contingency
and emergency plans, mobilising resources to minimise
the impact and restore service promptly to customers.
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The viability statement, required under the 2016 UK
Corporate Governance Code, takes a longer term
perspective of the group’s operational sustainability.
The two statements are set out below.

Viability statement

Scottish Water’s business model, activities and the factors that
could impact on its future development and performance are
described in the strategic report on pages 6 to 7. The principal
risks and uncertainties are described on pages 11 to 18.

In accordance with provision C.2.2 of the UK Corporate
Governance Code, the Members have assessed the prospects
of the group over the 3 year period to March 2021. The
Members consider that the 3 year period is appropriate
because it is consistent with the business planning process,
which gives greater certainty over the forecasting assumptions
used. Consequently, Members confirm that they have a
reasonable expectation that the group will be able to continue
in operation and meet its financial obligations as they fall due
over the next 3 years to March 2021.

Scottish Water operates under an annual borrowing limit set
by the Scottish Government. The annual borrowing limit
controls the amount by which Scottish Water can increase
externally sourced finance. In addition, Scottish Water’s
charging structure is reviewed through a regulatory process
and charges are approved annually by the Water Industry
Commission for Scotland.

The Members, taking all relevant factors into account, consider
that Scottish Water will have adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the next 12 months. Accordingly, the
accounts continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.

The key processes used by Members for their assessment are
summarised below:
The business and strategic planning processes cover the
regulatory period to March 2021, based on key assumptions in
respect of the funding of the business. Business planning is an
annual process which forecasts the performance and liquidity
of the group over the regulatory period with a detailed focus
on the first 3 years of any planning period. The plan considers
base, downside and severe downside financial and economic
scenarios.
Quantitative stress and scenario testing which consider the
primary individual and combined quantitative risks relating to
liquidity and regulatory financial ratios.
Qualitative scenario testing which gives a qualitative
understanding of plausible but severe risk scenarios which
could threaten the viability of the group, and informs related
management actions. The scenarios tested are based on the
principal risks and include widespread contamination of water
supply giving rise to emergency response and recovery, a
critical infrastructure breakdown and cyber-attack.
In conclusion, the Members consider that the 3 year period
is appropriate for this year because it is consistent with the
business planning process.

Financials

As at 31 March 2018, Government loans totalled £3.5 billion
and Scottish Water group held cash and cash equivalents of
£406.4 million.

In making their assessment, the Members considered the
resilience of the group, taking account of its strategic and
financial frameworks, including the borrowing limit and
operational positions and the level of the capital investment
programme. They considered the potential impacts, in severe
but reasonable scenarios, of the principal risks, set out on pages
11 to 18, and the probable degree of effectiveness of current
and available mitigating actions. 2017/18 is at the mid-point of
the 2015–21 regulatory period (SR15) and Scottish Water has
started the planning and analysis process for the new 2021–27
regulatory period (SR21).

Governance

Going concern

Strategic report

The Members of Scottish Water’s Board have concluded
that it is appropriate to adopt a going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements. The going concern basis
confirms that there are adequate resources to remain in
operation for at least one year from the date that the
financial statements are signed.

Overview

Going concern
and viability statements
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Customer service
Household customers
Delivering a consistently leading customer service is at the heart of what we
do. During 2017/18, we built on the success of the previous year and again
delivered our best ever customer experience results with even higher ratings,
saw a further drop in written complaints to their lowest level ever and
improved our overall performance.
We have agreed challenging targets with our regulator the
Water Industry Commission for Scotland (WICS) and the
body which represents consumers, the Customer Forum.
We are focused on delivering improving service levels in line
with the expectations of our customers and Scottish
Ministers.
The first of these is known as the Overall Performance
Assessment (OPA), a basket of indicators which tracks how
well we are delivering water and waste water services.
We have agreed a target with the Customer Forum of
382 points in 2017/18 rising to 385 by 2020/21, and we are
committed to achieving a score at or above that threshold.
We aspire to be best in class and target an OPA score at
or above 400.
As a result of our continued focus on delivering ever
improving customer service, we have achieved our best
ever OPA score this year with an out-turn of 406, up from
398 last year.
Our household Customer Experience Measure (hCEM)
ensures that we are always listening to our customers and
maintain focus on the delivery of service to our customers.
hCEM represents a basket of measures which, when
brought together, allows us to measure and understand the
experience of our customers – regardless of whether they
have had direct contact with us or not. The measure also
helps to ensure we are listening to customers who have had
no service issues whatsoever. It gives us a much broader
view of how well we are doing, of customers’ perceptions
and where we need to target improvements. hCEM was
developed in conjunction with the Customer Forum, in its
role of representing the interests of customers.
Our aim is to minimise the loss of hCEM points from a
starting score of 100. The more we increase our service
performance and customer satisfaction, while reducing
complaints, the fewer points we lose.

In 2017/18, we recorded our highest ever hCEM score which
saw an improvement of 0.48 points to 86.36. This means that
we have delivered improved levels of satisfaction every year
since the measure was introduced in 2015/16.

Non-household customers
We have continued to measure non-household and
developer customer experience through a new
non-household CEM (nhCEM). Many of the nhCEM
measurements are in their infancy; however, we have
worked to deliver improvements in the stability of the
measure during the year to provide a baseline figure from
which to deliver improvements. During the year,
Scottish Water introduced a new survey within the property
developer community to truly understand their experience
and establish actionable insights. In 2018/19, nhCEM
becomes one of our key business performance targets
aimed at improving customer experience for
non-household and developer customers.

Delivering excellent customer service
The Which? Scotland Consumer Insight Report continues
to track the water industry as the most trusted sector
among Scottish consumers. Our own customer research
also demonstrates that we continue to build the trust and
confidence of our customers and communities across
Scotland across our service and investment activity.
Written customer complaints have continued to fall this year,
reaching their lowest ever level, with an 18% reduction in
2017/18. We continue to receive more formal endorsements
through our Go the Extra Mile (GEM) customer nomination
programme directly from our customers than we do formal
complaints. During the year, staff from our Customer
Service teams continued to receive GEM nominations from
customers. In particular, two employees received
personalised platinum awards to recognise over 250 GEM’s
each since the programme began. A further 23 staff
received gold awards for over 100 GEM’s and 47 employees
received silver awards for over 50 GEM’s. The continued
success of this programme is a real testimony to the
increased focus on resolving customers’ issues first time,
every time.
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In the most recent wave of the UK Customer Satisfaction
Index (a national benchmark survey run by the Institute of
Customer Service), we achieved a score of 76.4. This means
we continue to out-perform the Utility Sector (74.4 overall
average) by 2 points and the Water Sector (75.2 overall
average) by 1.2 points. We recognise there is still more we
can do to deliver a consistently leading customer
experience.

Responding to incidents

In the last year, our teams worked together to maintain
services for customers and reduce the impact of operational
interruptions in the face of, at times, challenging conditions;
or to restore normal service as quickly as possible where
disruption has been experienced.

In February and March 2018, our teams worked around the
clock over several weeks to deal with challenges caused
by severe winter weather on our assets, infrastructure and
service. Heavy snow meant some water and waste water
treatment sites were difficult to reach, travel on the road
network for our fleet was hampered and we responded to
a very high number of burst pipes and mains. While it was
a challenging period, service was largely maintained
because of robust contingency planning and effective
execution of those plans.
Social media has become an important feature of our
approach to customer service. Digital platforms are
increasingly being used to inform customers and
communities of planned and unplanned work, particularly
using social media to reach geographic areas where work
is taking place. Scottish Water was recognised for Use of
Social Media at the UK Customer Experience Awards
of 2017, where we were also recognised in the Customer
Experience Team (Customer Engagement) category.

Financials

In May 2017, customers in Cumbernauld saw supplies
disrupted following a burst main. This caused interruption
to normal water supplies and reduced water pressure to a
large number of customers in the area. Our teams worked
to restore normal service as quickly as possible and to
reduce the disruption to supply.

Governance

Scottish Water, like all utilities, is often required to respond
to dynamic incidents caused by a range of factors, often
outwith our control, such as adverse weather.
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Customer service
Wholesale services
This is the 10th anniversary of the retail market for water and waste water
services being open to competition in Scotland, giving business customers
a choice of retailer. Scottish Water has played a key role in the market as the
only wholesaler since the market opening in 2008, collaborating with all
participants and leading market changes to facilitate the market operation.
Over the past three years Scottish Water has led significant
market data improvement projects to improve the quality
of market data. This ensures that customers are charged
correctly for the services they receive.

Our market performance is measured by a basket of
performance indicators. Our performance against the
target over the year was 97.4%. This is a significant
improvement on the previous year.

The market in Scotland opened on 1 April 2008.
Scottish Water actively facilitates all entrants to the
competitive water market in Scotland as the wholesale
supplier of water and waste water services.

Accurate market data is essential for a high quality
service to non-household customers. We have carried
out many significant data projects since the market opened
to increase the level of accuracy and completeness in the
market data. In 2017/18, we achieved over 99% match
between premises in the market and premises registered
with the Scottish Assessors which is key to successful
market operation. This has underpinned the successful
implementation of new Scottish Government policies of
charging for vacant premises and readiness for the policy
change regarding use of consistent current rateable values
in the values for water charging which took effect in
April 2018.

During 2017/18, the number of companies licensed to
provide water and waste water services to business
customers in Scotland increased from 25 to 26. A full list of
companies who are licensed to sell to business customers
is available on the Water Industry Commission for Scotland
website and on the ‘Scotland on Tap’ website. There have
also been a number of mergers and acquisitions among
licensed providers, and we have carefully managed these
changes to ensure continuity of service.
The market in England and Wales opened on 1 April 2017.
We are now benchmarking our operational and
transactional performance against wholesalers in that
market, and lead their performance. We now have the
opportunity to learn from both wholesalers and retailers
in that market.
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Investment overview

We are continuing to invest in maintaining and replacing
our infrastructure and in delivering further improvements in
drinking water quality, the protection of the environment,
and support for economic growth.

In 2017/18, £647 million was invested in upgrading essential
treatment works, water supply and sewer networks. This
builds on more than £7 billion of investment undertaken
since Scottish Water’s formation in 2002, helping to secure
the transformation of water services throughout the country.

Engagement has taken place in communities from
Strathpeffer in the Highlands to Haymarket in the centre of
Edinburgh, to provide information regarding upgrade work,
the requirement for the projects, the impact of the work
and the intended outcomes. Wherever possible, we seek
to accommodate the views of local communities when
undertaking essential investment activities.
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Working together
Our investment programme is delivered in partnership
with our capital alliance partners and wider supply chain.
Capacity and capability are key enablers to the delivery of
our capital work. In terms of wider economic benefit within
Scotland, we are investing on average over £53 million a
month with more than 200 suppliers employing an
estimated 3,000 plus people on the delivery of the
programme. Our supply chain has also created employment
opportunities for 170 modern apprentices and 162
graduates, enabling opportunities for young people to
learn and build the skills and knowledge that they need to
become the next generation of water industry leaders and
experts. We are aiming with the businesses in our supply
chain to create a total of around 750 modern apprentices
and graduates by the end of our regulatory period.
We currently have four main delivery vehicles; three Alliance
partners, who mostly focus on our investment programme;
and our own inhouse team, Managed Delivery, who support
smaller value capital maintenance, growth and study
projects.

Financials

Over the past year, we have ensured that planned
investment work in communities is underpinned by strong
communication and engagement. Rehabilitation of water
mains, upgrading of sewers or improvements to water and
waste water treatment sites inevitably generate views and
opinions from customers, particularly regarding any
disruption which might result.

Improving services and supporting the Scottish
economy – Total capital investment

Governance

There are currently 2,600 projects being progressed across
our communities, both large and small scale. Larger
projects, such as the resilience programme connecting the
Ayrshire and Glasgow water supply systems through a new
30-mile pipeline and to smaller localised works such as
extending the sewer network in Stromness, are essential to
delivering improvements in infrastructure and service
throughout Scotland.

Strategic report

Scottish Water’s six year investment programme will see around £3.9 billion
of improvements to Scotland’s water and waste water infrastructure.
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Caledonia Water Alliance (CWA), amey Black and Veatch
(aBV) and Efficient Service Delivery (ESD), as well as 		
Scottish Water’s own internal Managed Delivery team,
continue to be supported by a wider integrated supply
chain that includes 13 Tier 1 contractor partners on
frameworks specific to each delivery programme. This is
further augmented by 57 local contractors attached to our
regionally based rural framework, as well as frameworks
covering process equipment, civil materials, hire and
infrastructure products.
Scottish Water and our alliance partners have delivered
in excess of £13 million of investment via our rural
contractors. A series of rural workshops have created
opportunities for engagement and knowledge-sharing
with our four delivery vehicles and 57 rural contractors.
In every community, we aim to build goodwill and trust by
minimising the inconvenience to customers as we carry out
our essential work and ultimately ensure the benefits of our
investment leave a positive and long-lasting legacy. We aim
to put communities at the heart of our business by involving
those affected by our work at the earliest possible stage.
Our Communities Team is ISO9001 certified for the
Management of Scottish Water Communications for
Planned Projects. This certification is the stamp of approval
from an independent body that as a business, we focus on
our customers’ needs, adhere to internationally recognised
best practice and have documented procedures.

Delivering new investment
Investment activity across Scotland in 2017/18 included:
Greater Glasgow: A state-of-the-art tunnel boring
machine completed the construction of the Shieldhall
Tunnel and ‘broke through’ in Queen’s Park, Glasgow in
October 2017. The 3.1 mile tunnel, expected to be in
operation in Summer 2018, will improve water quality in the
River Clyde and reduce the risk of flooding in a number of
communities. Over 90% of the material excavated during
construction has or will be recycled. This year we also
completed, ahead of schedule, enhancements to the
existing sewer network around the Toryglen area to help
reduce the risk of sewer flooding.
Paisley: We began our investment in Paisley’s waste water
infrastructure, which will substantially reduce the frequency
of spills from the sewer network into the Espedair Burn and
White Cart Water in storm conditions. The project, which
includes the construction of a one-mile sewer under the
streets and the installation of combined sewer overflows,
is expected to complete in late 2020.
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Ayrshire & East Renfrewshire: Installation of about
30 miles of new water mains, connecting the system in
Ayrshire with the Greater Glasgow network, is due to be
completed in 2020. In 2017, we tunnelled under the A77
and River Irvine to reduce travel disruption and the impact
on the environment. One stretch of the new main, from
Waulkmill Glen reservoir near Newton Mearns to the
Fenwick/Waterside area, came into supply in February 2018.
The overall investment will improve the resilience of water
supplies for around 200,000 people and enable growth.
As part of the investment, we are changing the way we treat
the water to improve the water quality at customers’ taps.
Stromness, Orkney: This upgrade of the waste water
network involves linking existing sewers to the Bu Point
Waste Water Treatment Works. This will help improve the
natural environment and reduce the risk of pollution to the
surrounding coastal and recreational waters in Stromness
Harbour.
Oban: Construction of the new Tullich Water Treatment
Works was due to complete in Autumn 2017, however we
have encountered various unforeseen difficulties and it is
now due to complete in Summer 2018. Our investment in
Oban will ensure that thousands of customers continue to
enjoy clear, fresh drinking water that meets the most stringent
quality standards and will also accommodate planned
growth. We have worked closely with the local community,
including school visits to talk to pupils about the water
treatment process and the importance of hydration.
Inverurie: We are investing to upgrade the existing waste
water treatment works at Inverurie, working with our Alliance
partner ESD. This is Scotland’s first Nereda treatment plant
– using the innovative new technology to reduce energy
usage and carbon footprint, reduce odour and treat waste
water more effectively. The project, to improve water
quality around the River Don and provide better capacity
for the future, started in September 2017. It is expected to
take 18 months to complete.
Haymarket/Edinburgh: In September 2017, work began to
upgrade the Victorian sewer under the capital’s Haymarket
Terrace. The modern sewer will increase capacity and
reduce the risk of flooding for local properties and
businesses. The Haymarket project is just one of the waste
water infrastructure projects across the city during our
2015–2021 regulatory period. Construction has also just
begun to lay a new water main to the south of Edinburgh.
The investment will ensure the resilience of the water supply
for generations to come.
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Renfrewshire: More than 80,000 customers in
communities across Renfrewshire and south Paisley served
by the Muirdykes Water Treatment Works benefited from
an upgrade. The upgrade, which involved the installation of
a new filtration building and process, reduced the risk in the
network of discoloured water caused by naturally-occurring
manganese.

Strategic report

Lochaline: A new water treatment works was built offsite in
Muir of Ord and transported 118 miles to Lochaline on the
Morvern peninsula via the A9, A82 and the Corran Ferry.
Designing and assembling offsite meant less disruption for
communities and a quicker build-time. Work to install the
new transportable treatment unit started in early 2017 and
was completed in the summer. It involved installing new
clear water tanks, a standby generator and connections to
the existing network.

Financials
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Improvements to be delivered
in the Regulatory Period
We made good progress during the year on delivering the improvements
required to enhance drinking water quality and reliability of supply to
customers, protect and enhance the environment and support economic
growth across Scotland.
Overall delivery was on or ahead of the year-end target
apart from the improvements needed to meet the
requirements of the Water Framework Directive. This one
area is behind the plan to allow us to more effectively
manage the resilience of the supply of drinking water to
customers from the Amlaird system while work on the
Ayrshire Resilience Scheme is progressed.

Objective

Improving
drinking water
quality and
reliability

Improving
drinking water
security of
supply

Programme area

2017/18
Year end
Target

2017/18
Year end
Actual

Number of water treatment works improved

4

4

Number of zones made compliant with iron
and manganese standards

No outputs
planned to be
delivered

4

Distribution mains cleaned (km)

93

184

Number of improvements to reliability of supply
(catchments and treatment)

4

8

Number of improvements to reliability of supply
(networks and storage)

9

13

Number of water quality etc studies to inform
future periods

124

220

2010–15 outputs planned to complete in the
2015–21 period

6

8

Water supply resilience strategy and
improvements made

6

8

Number of zones with improved security of
supply

1

1

Number of improvements to the infrastructure
of critical reservoirs

9

28

Number of improvements to comply with the
Security and Emergency Measures Direction

109

243

Programme
delivery status
March 2018
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Number of waste water networks improved to
meet UWWTD

17

22

Number of improvements required to meet
UWWTD – Glasgow completion

42

51

Number of improvements required to meet the
Water Framework Directive

10

1

Number of revised Bathing Waters Directive
studies and improvements

1

8

Number of environmental studies to inform
future periods

1

33

Number of improvements to meet the
requirements of the Habitats Directive

1

1

Number of improvements required by the
Compliance Assessment Scheme

No outputs
planned to be
delivered

13

Number of improvements to reduce malodour

3

4

Number of improvements to sludge
management

9

9

2010–15 outputs planned to complete in the
2015–21 period

9

12

Reservoirs Act: improvements to dams

16

18

Flood Risk Management Act: models and
integrated catchment studies

24

65

Number of new connections to household and
business premises

Demand driven

65,710

Delivery of new waste water capacity for 58,000
people

Demand driven

5,325

Number of first time non-household meters
installed

Demand driven

9,968

Number of wholesale meters

Demand driven

32,038

Mitigating
climate change

Number of climate change vulnerability
assessments

55

57

Improving the
long-term cost
of service

Improvements in renewable power and energy
efficiency (GWh)

7.9

12.4

Protecting and
enhancing the
environment

Improving
flood risk
management

Supporting
economic
development

						

see text on
page 26

Financials

15

Governance

8

Strategic report

Number of waste water treatment works
improved to meet Urban Waste Water
Treatment Directive (UWWTD)

On Target

28

Scottish Water Annual Report and Accounts 2017/2018

Drinking water quality

Scottish Water depends upon, and contributes to, the protection
and enhancement of the natural environment in Scotland.
To provide our customers with clear, fresh drinking water,
we take water from supply sources such as rivers, lochs and
boreholes and treat it to ensure it is of high quality and
ready to be distributed to homes and businesses. We then
collect and treat waste water so that it can be safely
returned to the environment.

Improving services
Drinking water quality
In 2017, we carried out over 302,000 quality tests on
regulatory samples from our water treatment works, service
reservoirs and customers’ taps across Scotland.
The quality of water at customers’ taps remains at the
level achieved in 2016 of 99.91%. Meanwhile, 99.92% of all
quality tests on regulatory samples during 2017 met strict
microbiological and chemical regulatory standards,
remaining at the same high level achieved in 2016, but a
slight drop from 99.93% in 2015.
We continue to focus on improvement to ensure all our
customers can enjoy the look and taste of clear, fresh
drinking water. As well as making improvements to water
supply networks and treatment processes, we have also
worked to improve the appearance and taste of drinking
water for our customers in many areas.

2017
2016

99.89%
99.89%
99.87%

2011

2014

99.92%

2013

99.91%

2012

99.91%

2015

Clear, fresh drinking water – tap water quality

% 99.0

99.4

Scottish Water was convicted at Hamilton Sheriff Court
on 6 June 2017 of supplying water unfit for human
consumption on or between 17 and 19 June 2015 at Carfin,
North Lanarkshire and other nearby areas under Section
76C of the Water (Scotland) Act 1980. Lessons from the
analysis of the incident were developed into an action plan
which has been substantially progressed.

Sustainable land management
Sustainable Land Management (SLM) helps to protect
and improve source water quality in our drinking water
catchments. These are the areas which supply water to
our water treatment works.
In the last year, our specialist team visited catchments that
supply 29 water treatment works. During these visits, we
assessed the condition of the land around watercourses
and made suggestions to improve source water quality. In
one of these catchments, around Sandy Loch in Shetland,
we noticed large areas of exposed and damaged peat. To
help protect water quality within the area, we financed our
first peat restoration project. The benefit of this work was
recognised by the local community and we received the
Shetland Environmental Award in November 2017.
During 2017/18, we completed 71 interventions to help
improve our drinking water catchments. Just over half of
these were where we liaised with private land owners or
stakeholders to give advice on how to protect water quality.
In 2017/18, we assessed 739 activity notifications, 274 of
which were within the vicinity of our drinking water sources.
Activities included forest management, aerial and non-aerial
application of pesticides, hydro schemes and wind farms.
Through this assessment process, we gave advice to
contractors, operators and developers to help ensure that
our drinking water sources are protected.
We have actively contributed to 33 research projects to
expand our knowledge and understanding of how land
use may influence source water quality. During 2017/18,
there has been a focus on natural organic matter.

99.84%
99 2

Carfin water quality incident

99.6

99.8

100.0
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We take our responsibility to manage water, a precious
resource, seriously. Significant activity has taken place to
minimise leakage from our network. We respond to all
visible bursts and work to detect and fix underground leaks.

Since the introduction of a targeted approach in 2006,
leakage has been reduced by over 55%. As a result, we
continue to operate at the economic level of leakage – the
point where the cost of reducing leakage becomes greater
than the savings from reduced water production.

Financials

To enable our more targeted approach, we are working to
improve the data associated with leakage reporting both
internally and through participation in UK improvement
initiatives. We are also influencing research and development
in leakage management and reporting. We continue to
invest in pressure management systems to reduce the
chances of burst pipes disrupting customers’ supplies.

Governance

In 2017/18, reported leakage has reduced by 3 million litres
a day. This year, our network operations were significantly
affected by the cold weather experienced during December
2017 and March 2018. A significant winter recovery plan was
implemented during this period.

Strategic report

Leakage management
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Improving the environment
Waste water
In 2017/18, our performance across our waste water services
was our best ever with a number of improvements achieved
in key areas ensuring that we continue to do all we can to
protect the natural environment across Scotland.
In many places across Scotland, we typically operate
combined sewers that carry both foul sewage and surface
water drainage, and due to the nature and scale of our
services, Scottish Water has more environmental
authorisations and licensed discharges than any other
organisation in Scotland.
We have delivered more than £1 billion of investment in
environmental quality measures since we were formed in
2002 and reduced the number of waste water treatment
works which fail our serviceability measures from more than
70 to 0 in 2017/18, a reduction of four from 2016/17.
Scotland had 86 bathing waters officially designated for
2017, of which 73 could potentially be affected by
Scottish Water assets. This increased from 2016 due to two
new designations at Gairloch. For 2017, SEPA reported that
11 out of Scotland’s 86 bathing waters failed to comply with
at least the ‘sufficient’ standard of the revised Bathing
Waters Directive (rBWD) an improvement from 17 in 2016/17.
This means that 87% of Scotland’s beaches now meet
minimum rBWD water quality classifications. The number of
bathing waters meeting ‘excellent’ standard reduced from
26 in 2016/17 to 25 in 2017/18. The two new designated
bathing waters at Gairloch achieved ‘excellent’ classification
in their first bathing season.
Significant investment and study work has been undertaken
in partnership with SEPA in recent years to support bathing
water quality against the new directive. Through this process
we have identified where Scottish Water assets may limit
the ability of the bathing water to meet the new directive
standards, and sought to make the most appropriate
investment decisions.
Further investment is required at Portobello West,
Fisherrow, Rockcliffe, Kinghorn Harbour and Ayr South.
Further studies are being undertaken to confirm any
additional investment that may be required at Eyemouth
and Monifieth.
In 2017/18, we delivered our best performance to date in
environmental pollution incidents (EPIs) with a total of 191
EPI events – 47 fewer than in 2016/17 with only five being
more serious Category 2 events.

Our 2015–21 programme includes £500 million of planned
investment in further initiatives to protect and enhance the
environment. We continue to collaborate with SEPA, our
environmental regulator, to focus and target our operational
activities towards further improvements in environmental
performance.

Dunnswood environmental pollution incident
Scottish Water was charged on 7 February 2018 at Airdrie
Sheriff Court of an environmental pollution incident
between 11 and 14 July 2014 at Dunnswood Waste Water
Treatment Works, Cumbernauld. This followed an
unauthorised spill of untreated sewage from an emergency
overflow, which resulted in pollution of the Red Burn in
breach of regulation 4 and 44(1) (a) of the Water Environment
(Controlled Activities) (Scotland) Regulations 2011 and
Section 20(3) (a) of the Water Environment and Water
Services (Scotland) Act 2003.

Flooding
The reduction of flooding and pollution from sewers
remains one of our customers’ highest priorities. We have
made good progress against our commitment to address
internal flooding for those customers at highest risk, i.e.
those customers with a 10% or greater chance per annum
of internal sewer flooding. In total, 54 properties were
removed from the internal register in 2017/18.
We have continued to develop and promote schemes for all
customers who were on the register in March 2015, helping
to tackle longstanding flooding problems and address our
business plan commitment. Of the 302 properties on the
register in March 2015, we have successfully removed 108
of these. We have also developed and promoted a number
of schemes for problems that have emerged during this
timeframe, to enable us to move towards our aspiration of
dealing with internal flooding within four years of incidence.
This year we completed the Nelson Street/South Scott
Street, Baillieston project where we have invested over
£3.5 million to reduce the risk of internal and external sewer
flooding to 32 properties and local streets that have
suffered recurring flooding problems since 2011.
A number of high-profile, complex projects were underway
in 2017/18. Work started in October 2017 in Haymarket
Terrace, Edinburgh to upgrade the brick Victorian sewer,
which is at capacity, with a new 1.2 metre diameter sewer.
The project was planned in detail with the City of Edinburgh
Council to minimise traffic and business disruption.
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• Increasing self-generation
Since 2013, the Scottish Water Group has increased the
renewable generation capacity to 58GWh/annum, almost
three times our capacity in 2013. The portfolio of assets
has been diversified to include hydro, wind, biomass,
photovoltaic solar, combined heat and power (CHP) and
biomass boilers. We currently have 38 hydro turbines,
18 sites with small scale wind turbines installed, 31 solar
schemes, 3 CHP plants (including the Scottish Water
Horizons Deerdykes plant), and 3 biomass boilers. More
than 70 of our water and waste water treatment works are
either self-sufficient or partly self-sufficient in their power
requirements. This is helping us become a more sustainable
business and is leading to lower operating costs.
• Purchasing low-cost green energy
We continue to purchase low-cost green energy from a
privately-owned renewable Anaerobic Digestion Plant
adjacent to Girvan Waste Water Treatment Works and have
concluded an agreement to purchase green energy from
local renewable assets on the Fair Isle, which will supply our
local water treatment works.
We understand the benefits these schemes bring to local
businesses and communities and we are currently working
with a number of local businesses and community schemes
in conjunction with Local Energy Scotland.

Water efficiency
We are working in partnership with the Energy Saving Trust,
who actively manage the main household and community
energy programmes in Scotland, to provide water efficiency
advice and packs to 49,000 homes in priority areas across
Scotland. By working collaboratively to promote the
benefits of using water wisely, customer engagement is
taking place to better understand the link between saving
water, saving energy and saving money on energy bills with
the aim of long-term behavioural change. In summer 2017,
we ran a series of events in Galashiels to promote water
efficiency and delivered more than 1,200 water saving packs
to householders, which will help them to save water and
energy.
Our website features an interactive water use calculator,
while we also have a range of films that we promote through
our website and social media channels which provide advice
on how to use water wisely in the kitchen, bathroom and
outdoors.
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A water efficiency trial covering 2,000 homes showed a
positive response to our water efficiency advice and devices
with encouraging results. We are committed to better
understanding water use in and around homes as well as
our own assets and will continue to promote more efficient
use of water.

Customer behaviours
Customers have an important part to play in helping to
keep Scotland’s vital water and waste water services running
smoothly.
Since 2013, our ‘Keep the Cycle Running’ advertising and
information campaign has raised customer awareness about
the steps they can take to help prevent blocked drains and
reduce instances of sewer flooding.
Around 80% of blockages in Scotland’s drains and sewer
network attended by Scottish Water are caused by the
wrong items being flushed down toilets or poured down
sinks, including all wipes and fats, oils and grease. Our
campaign encourages everyone to only flush the 3Ps – pee,
poo and paper – down the toilet. Since the Cycle campaign
started, we have seen a reduction in the number of
blockages from 40,000 to just under 35,000 a year.
In 2017/18, we continued to work in communities to
promote our campaign messages, including visits to around
40 primary schools across Scotland. We also worked with
relevant organisations to jointly promote the campaign,
including the NHS in Fife and the Highlands, Perth & Kinross
Council and Edinburgh Zoo to help raise awareness of how
to properly dispose of bathroom and kitchen waste.
In early 2018, we asked households to help protect
Scotland’s natural environment by simply binning bathroom
waste items, such as cotton buds and wipes, rather than
flushing them away. We support the Scottish Government
proposal and consultation to ban the sale and manufacture
of plastic-stemmed cotton buds to help reduce the impact
of plastics on the environment.
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Overview

Innovation

In 2017/18, we enhanced our innovation capability by:

• Implementing research and development projects.

Onsite productivity app

•D
 eveloping our leaders’ innovation knowledge.

Our activities focused on two particular areas – exemplary
compliance in water and waste water and sustainable rural
communities.

The Scottish Water Improving Productivity & Efficiency
(SWIPE) smart phone app uses data to drive performance
improvement, improve collaboration with suppliers and
improve customer and community satisfaction.

Strategic approach

Our Research & Development programme

We are focused on enhancing the capabilities of our people
to be more innovative, to accelerate new technologies into
the business and to target our research activities. IMAP
enables our people to take their ideas and navigate through
the stages of ‘discovery’, ‘development’ and ‘deployment’.
Partnerships with Scottish Government, our supply chain,
academia and the wider industry, including our regulators
and centres of expertise and universities in the UK and
Europe are crucial to our success and allow us to share
knowledge and access funding streams.

Our Research & Development programme themes are:
sustainable rural communities; exemplary compliance; value
recovery from waste; reducing economic levels of leakage;
and automation and real-time control.
We are actively addressing the challenges of providing
cost-effective and sustainable services for customers in rural
areas, exploring new technologies and systems that will
deliver better outcomes. Ongoing projects include:
INNOQUA project – Scottish Water will host one of seven
European project demonstration sites at a small waste water
treatment works in the Highlands. This project combines
ecological processes in a system which treats waste water
while producing zero waste.
Toolbox of technologies – We are trialling more efficient
and effective technologies to use in drinking water supplies
in rural areas. Anticipated benefits include enhanced water
quality and reduced chemical waste.

New waste water technology

Exemplary compliance – We are exploring ways to
optimise existing water systems, evaluate new systems and
address immediate and future waste water needs.

We are constructing Scotland’s first waste water treatment
works which uses granular activated sludge (Nereda)
technology in Inverurie. This waste water treatment works
will use less chemicals, energy and materials.

Disinfection efficiency – This project will make ‘real time’
modelling and management of drinking water chlorine
disinfection systems a reality, ensuring effective disinfection
under all operating conditions.

Recovering heat from waste water

Managing sludge – We are trialling new technologies to
help us reduce the cost of managing the by-products of
waste water treatment and associated risks. As well as
increasing understanding of the technologies, this
programme of work will provide us with more sustainable
routes for recovering value from sludge.

Innovation in action

Scottish Water Horizons and SHARC Energy formed a joint
venture to deliver heat from waste water technology,
including one at a leisure centre in Campbeltown, Argyll.

Financials

We aim to be an organisation which is open to new ideas
so we have the strongest platform on which to meet the
challenges from our customers, regulators and the broader
environment. We are focused on: embedding innovation
capability; trialling new technologies through our Innovation
Management Adoption Process (IMAP); and delivering
knowledge and capability through our ambitious Research
& Development programme.

Governance

• Reinforcing innovation as a driver for high performance.

This followed the successful implementation of heat from
waste water technology at Scottish Borders College, a UK
first which was recognised with two separate industry
awards in 2017.

Strategic report

We are committed to delivering a sustainable, high quality and affordable service
for our customers. Fresh thinking and new ideas help us meet our customer
expectations and address future challenges. Our approach is to deliver a focused
Research & Development programme, adopt new technologies and develop an
organisational culture which harnesses opportunities for improvement.
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Supporting the economy

Our capital investment programme makes Scottish Water a significant
contributor to the country’s economic well-being.
Our business and procurement strategies are aligned with
the Scottish Government’s ambition to create a greener
and stronger economy, and our supply chain actively
enables wider economic value.
We spend more than £600 million annually on goods and
services, through 167 frameworks and around 400 suppliers,
including more than 200 engaged on our capital
programme. This equates to over 50% of the turnover of
Scottish Water’s regulated businesses. Our supply chain
ranges from local suppliers in Scotland to businesses across
the UK, Europe, the USA, India and China.
Scottish Water’s procurement strategy is aligned to
business requirements, with capital alliance partners
working on complex projects, while rural contractors and
operational alliances support smaller value capital
maintenance. More than 70% of our suppliers are Small
Medium Enterprises (SMEs) and more than 70% of our
spend is focused on organisations with locations in
Scotland. We look to work with suppliers who have a focus
on sustainability and innovation.
An estimated 3,000-plus supply chain jobs are currently
enabled by our external spend – the majority of these are
within Scotland and the UK. These jobs cover areas such as
construction trades, manufacturing skills and, increasingly,
digital skills.
As we move into the second half of our six year investment
period, we anticipate further annual increases in capital
investment projects and these are expected to focus on
enhancing existing infrastructure through replacement and
repair.
Other activities that contribute to supporting Scotland’s
economy included working with partners, such as O2, to
enable Scottish Water land to be used to locate broadband
and mobile transmitters to increase connectivity of rural
communities.

Modern Slavery Act
The Modern Slavery Act was published in 2015 to tackle
slavery and human trafficking. Businesses such as
Scottish Water with turnover greater than £36 million are
required to publish an annual statement explaining the
steps they have taken to ensure that slavery and human
trafficking are not taking place in their business or in their
supply chain.
Scottish Water publishes an annual statement, has a
Modern Slavery Policy and all other relevant policies have
been updated to include references to the Act. An online
training module is being developed for our employees.
In relation to our supply chain, we have undertaken the
following actions:
• As part of the tender process, all potential suppliers
are required to confirm that they adhere to the
requirements of the Act.
• All framework supplier contracts have a clause relating
to the Act within the agreements.
• Ensuring that all framework suppliers with turnover
greater than £36 million have statements published on
their website.
• All framework suppliers with turnover less than
£36 million are required to sign and declare compliance
to the Act on an annual basis.
• Risk assessed the supply chain.

35

Scottish Water Annual Report and Accounts 2017/2018

Overview

Household charges

In April 2018, household charges increased by 1.6% – 		
around £6 a year for the average household. This means 		
the average Scottish Water household charge in 2018/19
is £363. This is less than £1 a day1 and £42 lower than the
average charge in England and Wales.

Scottish Water charges are in line with the price limits
set by the Water Industry Commission for Scotland as
part of a six year agreement between Scottish Water
and the Customer Forum, which represented the interests
of customers. In the four years from 2015–16 to 2018–19,
Scottish Water household charges increased by 1.6%
each year.

Average
household bill
for 2018–19

South West Water

£491

Wessex Water

£479

Welsh Water

£439

Southern Water

£436

United Utilities

£435

Anglian Water

£428

England and Wales Average

£405

Northumbrian Water

£402

Yorkshire Water

£385

Thames Water

£383

Scottish Water

£363

Severn Trent Water

£348

Comparison with English & Welsh water companies based
on water.org.uk published average charge

1	The average household is between Council Tax Band B and Band C and
has a combined bill of less than £1 a day. Individual Water Supply and
Waste Water Collection charges are less than £1 a day for all households
(except for the individual Waste Water Collection charges for Band G
households and the individual Water Supply and Waste Water Collection
charges for Band H households).

Financials

Water and Sewerage Companies

Governance

Income from household charges is helping to pay for our
investment programme which, between 2015 and 2021,
will see around £3.9 billion invested to further improve
drinking water quality, protect the environment and
support jobs in the Scottish economy.

Comparison with English & Welsh water companies
based on water.org.uk published average charge

Strategic report

Household charges in Scotland remain among the lowest in Great Britain.
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Governance

Under IAS 19 a snapshot is taken of pension fund assets
and liabilities at a specific point in time. Thus movements
in equity markets and discount rates create volatility in the
calculation of scheme assets and liabilities. At 31 March
2018, the gross pension liability decreased by £58.9 million
from £234.2 million to £175.3 million. The reduction was
driven by a 2.4%, or £43.6 million, reduction in scheme
liabilities primarily caused by changes in assumptions and
experience gains of £105.7 million partially offset by a
liability increase of £62.1 million as a result of the accrual of
further benefits over the year to 31 March 2018. In addition,
there was a £15.3 million, or 0.9% increase, in scheme
assets despite lower than expected returns of £23.9 million.
The impact of these two changes (£105.7 million less
£23.9 million) represent the actuarial gain recognised in
the pension fund of £81.8 million which, net of deferred tax,
represents the £67.9 million credit in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
Further detail is included in note 23 to the financial
statements.

Financials

In December 2016, Business Stream introduced a new
defined contribution scheme, administered by Standard
Life. Employees who joined Business Stream after this date
have been, and will be, enrolled in this scheme, with the
SLGPS closed to new Business Stream employees from
the same date.
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Business Stream

Business Stream is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Scottish Water with
its own board and independent management team.
Business Stream supplies water and waste water services to
business customers throughout Scotland and to a growing
number of customers in England following the opening of
the English retail market on 1 April 2017.
Business Stream delivers a wide range of retail water and
waste water management solutions, including water audits,
waste water treatment solutions, water efficiency services,
new connections, trade effluent consultancy, treatment hire
plant and automated meter reading.
Competition in the Scottish and English markets continues
to intensify with 26 licensed providers operating in the
Scottish market and with 29 retailers operating in the
English market.

Performance review
Business Stream reported a loss before tax of £5.2 million
(2017: £6.5 million surplus) for the year.
The loss was largely attributable to £6.6 million of doubtful
debt provisions required to reflect the initial low collection
rates experienced following the introduction of charging
for vacant premises in Scotland.
Charging for vacant premises was introduced in Scotland
following the industry-wide removal of the water charge
exemption for vacant properties. The policy change was
effective from 1 April 2017. As the incumbent holding the
majority of vacant properties in the market, Business Stream
was significantly impacted by the combined challenges of
identifying, tracing, contacting and bringing in to charge
liable parties, with low awareness among property owners
of their liability for this new charge.
Billing and collection rates are expected to improve over
time as industry awareness improves and tracing and
collection activities continue. Following an industry-wide
consultation, changes to the regulatory framework have
been introduced from 1 April 2018 which provide retailers
with mechanisms to address recoverability issues, which will
reduce the financial impact of vacant charging going forward.
Business Stream acquired the non-household customers of
Southern Water in April 2017 which coincided with the
opening of the market for non-domestic retail water services
in England. The purchase doubled the size of the customer
base, positioning Business Stream as the fourth largest
water retailer in the UK, providing a strong foothold for
future growth in the new market.

Business Stream made a strong start in the new English
market, securing contracts worth £155 million with an
annualised income of £66 million in the first 12 months, in
addition to the acquisition of the Southern Water customer
book.
Expenditure included £3.5 million of amortisation charges
in relation to the Southern acquisition and £6.9 million of
operating costs and doubtful debt charges associated with
vacant properties. Underlying operating costs increased
by £3.6 million from the previous year, reflecting the one-off
costs of market entry, the costs of acquiring, on-boarding
and integrating new customers and costs associated with
servicing the enlarged customer base which is now twice as
big as it was a year ago.
The cash balance remains strong at £43.4 million. The
reduction in the year reflects: the acquisition of the
Southern Water non-household customer base; increased
wholesaler prepayment terms in Scotland; market credit
terms with wholesalers in England; and the start-up phase
for billing customers in the new market in England. Cash
flow is expected to improve going forward as improved
credit terms are implemented with English wholesalers
and billing and collection rates improve.

Future developments
Business Stream’s strategy is to retain market share in
Scotland and the Southern Water region, while acquiring
market share in Scotland and England utilising the
knowledge, capability and experience gained from
10 years of operating in a competitive market.
Sustained investment in customer service has led to
increased customer satisfaction levels and further
investment is planned in automation, continuous
improvement capability and process re-engineering,
to deliver customer service excellence and improve
operational efficiency.
Although the market in Scotland is now well established,
which will place continued pressure on margins, the new
English market, 1.2 million customers and £2.5 billion of
revenue, creates sizeable new opportunities for profitable
growth. Business Stream continues to benefit from a strong
debt-free balance sheet with £43.4 million of cash balances
as at March 2018.
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Overview

Non-regulated businesses

The main objectives of our non-regulated business activities are to harness the
skills and expertise of our people and use innovative ideas, knowledge and
Scottish Water assets to encourage economic growth across Scotland, develop
the use of sustainable technologies and provide water and waste water
consultancy services to utilities, governments and other international clients.

Strategic report

The activities of Horizons are aligned to support
Scottish Water’s core objectives, with particular emphasis
on supporting its innovation agenda, carbon reduction
targets and renewable energy ambitions. The focus of the
business is to identify, develop and deliver innovative,
profitable and sustainable growth opportunities. This
maximises commercial and reputational benefits from
Scottish Water’s unique skills and market position and to
add value to their and other Scottish Public Sector assets.
In doing so, Horizons contributes to Scottish Water’s key
stakeholder requirements including Scottish Government
initiatives such as Zero Waste and the Hydro Nation agenda.

Governance

The non-regulated businesses working capital requirements
are financed by organic cash flow, loans from Scottish Water
Horizons Holdings Ltd, grant funding and asset disposals.

Performance review
Non-regulated businesses returned a profit before tax
for the year ending 31 March 2018 of £1.0 million (2017:
£1.5 million). Some highlights from the year include:
•C
 ompletion of a design and build project to facilitate
new waste water infrastructure to support the new
town of Tornagrain, near Inverness, is imminent but
slight delays are the primary reason for the reduction
in profit highlighted above.
•C
 reation of a joint venture with International Waste
Water Systems UK Ltd (SHARC Energy) to expand and
accelerate the roll-out of heat from waste water
schemes across Scotland. Projects due to commence,
with support from the Scottish Government’s Low
Carbon Infrastructure Transition Programme, are a
leisure centre in Campbeltown and the Kelvingrove Art
Gallery & Museum in Glasgow.

• A further investment in renewable energy schemes,
including photo-voltaic panels, wind and biomass
technologies, bringing delivered capacity of renewable
energy generation since April 2015 to 3.9GWh. This
represents 60% of the Scottish Water Group target to
be delivered by March 2021.
• The focus in 2017/18 for international business
activities was the planned transition from the six year
contract in Qatar which ended in March 2018 and the
development of further channels to market primarily in
Australia, New Zealand and Ireland which have required
up-front investment. This has already helped it gain
new contracts in the final quarter of the year to the
value of circa £950,000 in Australia, Canada, Romania,
and Ireland.
• Business success in Australasia was achieved by
winning work in Brisbane and Tasmania to support
delivery of their investment programmes and
completing commissions with Sydney Water to support
the implementation of a new treatment operating
model. Work also progressed with Wellington Water
in New Zealand to review their customer strategy.
• Continued to provide advice and support to the
creation of Irish Water, Ireland’s new water utility.
• Supporting Strathclyde University and the Scottish
Government by providing a project management
service to develop a strategic plan to help Malawi
achieve the United Nations Sustainable Development
Goal 6 by 2030.

Financials

International business activities are focused on countries
where governments and utilities are keen to learn about the
transformation journey of Scottish Water into an efficient
publicly-owned service provider and are aligned with the
Scottish Government’s Hydro Nation ambitions.

• Securing a grant, in conjunction with our partner
organisations, to create a pan-European network of
water and waste water test facilities to support
innovation within the small-medium enterprise market
across Europe.
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People

People – our employees and our customers – are at the very heart of what
we do and we’re committed to ensuring we make a positive contribution
to their lives, now and in the future.
Our people
We employ people across Scotland with a diverse range
of skills and talents in areas such as science, engineering,
finance, regulation, customer service, project management,
information technology and asset management. Our people
at Scottish Water are key to delivering our strong
performance and in developing our plans for the future. We
also have a small number of employees working overseas
on international assignments in Qatar, Ireland and Australia.
We are a Living Wage accredited employer.

Safety, health and wellbeing
Our integrated safety, health and wellbeing strategy sets
out our intent to lead our industry in Scotland on a journey
to zero harm and create safe, healthy and productive
workplaces where our people can thrive.

Keeping people safe
In 2017/18, there was an increase in safety incidents among
Scottish Water employees and those of our alliance partners
and contractors. Slips, trips and falls remain the most
common cause of workplace injury. Falls from height remain
infrequent but can be the most serious.
During the year, two significant safety incidents occurred.
In January 2018, an employee of Veolia, the operator of
Whitburn Waste Water Treatment works, sadly lost his life
while at work. A serious injury occurred to a Scottish Water
employee involving a fall from height in June 2017.
While our key health and safety incident rates, including
Lost Time Accidents, continue to be lower than average
industry levels, we will continue to increase our focus in
2018/19 to ensure the safety of our people, and the public as
well as our contractors and partners.
We have an ambitious plan of safety improvement initiatives
up to 2021. During 2017/18, we focused on collaboration
with our alliance partners and management of contingency
workers on safety, health and wellbeing.

Keeping people healthy
In 2017, voluntary health-screening was offered for the first
time to employees based at our six main office locations
around the country. Over 700 employees took up the offer,
and the intention is to extend the programme across a
wider range of locations in 2018/2019.

In December 2017, Scottish Water introduced a new
nurse-led advice and sickness absence reporting service for
our employees. During 2017/18, the proportion of time lost
to employee absence in Scottish Water was 2.87%.

Helping people thrive
We have a network of around 70 Wellbeing Champions
across the business. These are employees who are
passionate about good work being good for health and
who have volunteered to support our health and wellbeing
initiatives. Our wellbeing initiatives include Flourish courses,
aimed at building employees’ personal resilience, and
Mentally Healthy Working Lives training, aimed at building
line managers’ confidence to support employees who are
experiencing mental health issues.
Agile working practices are one of the key priorities for our
employees. Alongside the range of working patterns and
family-friendly policies in place, we remain committed to
ensuring workspaces are agile environments and our
employees are equipped with the appropriate equipment,
tools and technologies to help enable agile working.
Our approach to wellbeing also places high importance
on belief in our vision and values, being part of something
meaningful and supporting active engagement in life and
wider society. Our volunteering programme, which allows
each employee 2 days per year to help strengthen
relationships with local communities, our fundraising
activities for WaterAid, and a mentoring scheme for
schoolchildren are examples of ways in which employees
are supported to make a difference to wider society.

Increasing diversity
We recognise that diversity in the workplace makes good
business sense and leads to dynamic teams, different
contributions, better decision-making and strong
performance.
Scottish Water is committed to equality of opportunity
and diversity in employment, including in the way we
reward our employees. We have seen a gradual increase in
the proportion of female employees; women now make up
28% of our workforce. Scottish Water’s Public Sector
Equality Duties Report is published in full on our website.
In 2017, we won The Herald/GenAnalytics Diversity in the
Public Sector Award. The judges commented on our
proactive approach to managing our workforce
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Building capability
We work hard to create opportunities for all our people to
realise their full potential by developing their skills, talents
and experiences, and to equip them to deal with changing
working practices and technologies.

The Future Leaders Programme, a two-year development
programme for employees with senior leadership
potential has created a pipeline of talent. The Programme
was awarded Best Talent Management Programme at the
HR Network 2017 Awards. In addition, we offer a number
of paid three-month internships each year for those from
Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths (STEM)
backgrounds.

Length of
service

Less
than
1 year

1-2
years

2-3
years

3-4
years

4 years
or
more

Number
of “Off
Payroll”
Agency
Workers

19

38

26

49

3

Scottish Water engages a number of companies to
deliver services in areas such as cleaning, catering, traffic
management or grounds maintenance. Such contracts are
not for the engagement of specific individuals although as
part of our accreditation as a living wage employer, our
procurement contracts for these services include the
requirement for the employing organisation to pay at least
the living wage. Scottish Water does not use zero-hours
contracts.
Scottish Water operates severance terms as approved by
the Scottish Government and which are used in a limited
number of different circumstances. Where an employee’s
role becomes redundant all efforts are made to redeploy
the individual into another role and/or another part of the
business.

Financials

We recognise the importance of attracting and developing
the next generation of people to work in the water industry
in Scotland. We have attained the Investors in Young
People Gold Standard, the highest level of recognition for
our continued strong commitment to employing and
developing young people. In collaboration with our partners
and relevant skills bodies, we have created qualifications,
modern apprenticeship frameworks, internships and
award-winning apprentice and graduate development
programmes. We currently employ 56 graduates on
structured development programmes and we will recruit a
further 25 in 2018/19. We run a number of well-established
apprenticeship programmes, with 138 apprentices currently
in training.

We engage a number of workers through agency contracts,
allowing greater flexibility and access to specialist skills. The
table below sets out the number of agency workers at the
end of 2017/18. ‘Off payroll’ workers are defined by HM
Treasury guidance as those paid £220 or more per day and
that last longer than 6 months.

Governance

In October 2017, Scottish Water signed the Armed Forces
Covenant and committed to supporting serving and former
military personnel and their families.

Resource management

Strategic report

demographics, and our focus on creating an inclusive
work environment. We want everyone to feel that they
belong at Scottish Water, and to feel as though they are
valued for their differences and contributions. We encourage
individuals with shared interests to form self-organising and
governing networks and now have seven established
groups in place. These are Women in Scottish Water, Nxt
Gen (for people early in their careers), LGBT and Allies,
Disability Forum, Carers Support Network, Armed Forces
Network and Multicultural Group.
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Customer education
We are committed to engaging with customers of all ages
about who we are, what we do, the vital role that water and
waste water services have in our daily lives, and the water
cycle.

Learn to Swim
Our three-year partnership with Scottish Swimming’s Learn
to Swim programme gathered real momentum during the
first full year of activity in 2017/18.

Our country has many miles of coastline, rivers, lochs and
reservoirs and we believe that swimming is a key life skill as
well as being great for general wellbeing and fitness. We
will continue to work with Scottish Swimming to promote
Learn to Swim in the remaining two years of the partnership.
This aims to help more than 100,000 children learn to swim,
and give them the skills, confidence and knowledge to stay
safe and be competent around water.

Volunteering
Since our volunteering programme launched in 2011, we
have seen 1,137 individual employees dedicate 21,452
working hours to good causes. In 2017/18, 506 individual
employees dedicated 4,162 working hours of their time to
educational, charitable, environmental and community
projects across Scotland.
Each employee is entitled to up to 2 days paid leave per
year to volunteer which in turn develops their personal skills,
aids their wellbeing and champions teamwork across the
organisation. The volunteering work our employees
undertake helps to leave a positive legacy with our
customers and their communities. In turn this helps build
trust, strengthen relationships and our reputation, and
helps us to achieve our vision.

We are proud to support WaterAid, which works with
partners in some of the poorest communities in Africa,
Asia and the Pacific region to deliver clean water and toilets,
promote good hygiene and campaign for change. The
involvement of Scottish Water employees helps support the
WaterAid vision to provide everyone, everywhere with clean
water, decent toilets and good hygiene by 2030. In 2017/18,
Scottish Water employees raised in excess of £208,900 to
support WaterAid’s work. In addition, an extra £10,569 has
been raised through the #Untapped match funding by the
Department for International Development.
WaterAid Scotland secured £1.08 million in funding from
the Scottish Government for a project in Rwanda which
aims to improve health and sanitation. Over the lifetime of
the project, school toilet blocks and rainwater harvesting
tanks will be constructed. In January 2018, Scottish Water
employees visited Rwanda with WaterAid Scotland and
representatives from the Scottish Government to see the
project first-hand.

Community Empowerment (Scotland)
Act 2015
During 2017/18, under Part 5 of the Act, Scottish Water
received no formal Asset Transfer Requests from
Community Transfer Bodies.
Scottish Water promotes awareness of the legislation by
publishing an asset register as required under the Act on
our website.
We have regularly met with local community groups where
issues relating to the future use of assets – particularly those
which may become, or already are, non-operational – are
discussed and highlighted for further investigation.

Financials

The programme reached 17 local authorities and leisure
trusts and saw more than 53,000 children participate in
swimming lessons at 110 swimming pools throughout the
country. This exceeded the target of 50,000 children set for
the first year.

WaterAid Scotland

Governance

Our educational resources and activities, based on the
requirements of the national curriculum, and our online
games and free apps for mobile devices, provide great
ways to have conversations with school pupils and
customers in communities across Scotland and bring our
essential services to life.

Our Adopt a Beach campaign, which supports employees
to use their volunteering time to ‘adopt’ and survey a local
beach, has seen us adopt 50 beaches. Local primary schools
are also encouraged to join our volunteers, allowing pupils
to understand that small changes to behaviours can make a
positive difference to our environment. We will continue to
support employees with this campaign and the work of
Marine Conservation Society (MCS) who use the data we
provide in their campaigns to rid our shores of litter.

Strategic report

As a responsible business, we recognise the broader role Scottish Water
has in the communities we serve.

Overview

Community matters
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Looking ahead
Our plan for 2015 to 2021
High quality service

Delivering value

We will continue to deliver high service levels so that
household and business customers receive a water and
waste water service that is among the best in the UK,
improving service in all their priority areas.

We will build on our leading levels of employee
engagement to continually improve the effectiveness
and efficiency of our service delivery to customers.

Customer experience
We will further improve customers’ experience of their
service from us so that it is as good as that provided by
leading suppliers of other essential products and services.
We monitor our customer service through the Overall
Performance Assessment and Customer Experience
Measures.

Service to Licensed Providers
We will continue to listen to the needs of Licensed Providers
operating in Scotland as the Scottish and English retail
markets develop and adapt our wholesale services to meet
their needs.

Household prices
We will keep prices low for our customers through being
ever more efficient and innovative and balancing investment
priorities and opportunities with available financing.

Wholesale charges
Wholesale charges, across the 2015–21 period, will increase
at 0.3% below CPI per annum.

Innovation
Our plans include both innovative and proven approaches
to operating and investment solutions. Detailed studies
and investigations have enabled us to avoid extensive
investment where there would be no clear benefit.

Financing
The financing of this plan will require £760 million of net new
government borrowing across the 2015 to 2021 period.

Out-performance
We will endeavour to out-perform this plan. Savings arising
from out-performance are available to support further
investment subject to agreement with stakeholders and
the Scottish Government.

Risk
Inevitably, circumstances will vary from those set out in
our plan. In 2010–15, overall favourable circumstances and
business out-performance enabled us to both reduce
customer prices in real terms and new government
borrowing. From 2018 to 2021, we may require greater or
lesser financial resources than assumed in our plan.
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Governance
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Corporate governance

Members
The Chair and other Non-executive Members are appointed by Scottish Ministers. Executive Members are appointed by
Scottish Water after receiving consent to their appointment from Scottish Ministers. The Members as at the date of the Annual
Report and their biographies are set out on pages 48 to 49.
Executive Board appointments are based on merit and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, including gender. Non-Executive Board appointments are made by the
Scottish Government in accordance with equal opportunities guidance ‘Diversity Delivers’ introduced by the Commission for
Ethical Standards in Public Life in Scotland and applicable to all public appointments.
The Board of Scottish Water comprised 11 members: 8 Non-executive Board Members and 3 Executive Members, with the
appointment of Samantha Barber and Iain Lanaghan as Non-executive Board Members on 1st April 2017 and the appointment
of Deirdre Michie as a Non-Executive Board Member on 1st December 2017. Lynne Peacock’s term as a Non-Executive Board
Member expired on 31st October 2017. For the remainder of the 2017/18 financial year, the Board comprised 8 Non-executive
Board Members and 3 Executive Members, with Alan Bryce’s term as Non-executive Board Member expiring on 31st March
2017. The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to it for decision making. Reporting to the Board are the
Chief Executive and the Executive Members who have responsibility for the management of Scottish Water, and the Board
Committees detailed below.
In accordance with the best practice recommended in the UK Corporate Governance Code, there is a clear division of
responsibilities between the Chair and the Chief Executive. Scottish Water also benefits from the expertise of its Non-executive
Board Members whose range of experience brings independent judgement on issues of strategy and performance, which are
vital to the success of Scottish Water.
During the financial year of 2017/18, the Board met on 10 occasions to review Scottish Water’s operational and financial
performance, business strategy and risk management.

UK Corporate Governance Code
Scottish Water complies with the UK Corporate Governance Code so far as applicable to its status as a Statutory Public
Corporation. As Scottish Water is not a company registered under the Companies Act, the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA)
listing rules are not applicable and an Annual Consultative Meeting with stakeholders is held in place of an Annual General
Meeting. The arrangements for appointment and termination of Board Members and their remuneration are derived from the
underlying statutory regime and set out in the Members’ Remuneration Report. No Senior Independent Director has been
appointed as other arrangements are in place to consult with stakeholders. The Audit Committee Report on pages 54 to 57
covers the appointment of the external auditor.
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Executive Leadership Team
The Chief Executive is responsible for the management and operation of Scottish Water within the strategy determined by
the Board and is supported by an Executive Leadership Team which he chairs. The members of the Executive Leadership
Team who are also Executive Members are:
Douglas Millican 		

Chief Executive

Peter Farrer 		

Chief Operating Officer

Alan Scott 		

Finance Director

Internal control
The Members of the Board recognise their responsibility for establishing, maintaining and reviewing the systems of internal
control and risk management from a financial and operational perspective. These systems are designed to manage, rather
than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business and operational objectives and to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The systems of internal control are compliant with the relevant sections of the UK Corporate Governance Code and the
Scottish Water Governance Directions 2009. They are based on an ongoing process designed to identify those risks material
to the achievement of Scottish Water’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate those risks and to manage them effectively
in accordance with good risk management practices.

Risk management
The risk management process has been in place for the full year under review and up to the date of approval of the Annual
Report and financial statements.
Scottish Water has established a clear risk management policy that sets out a consistent approach to the management of risk
and defines risk appetite.
Risk management is integral to the business and financial planning process in Scottish Water and this continues to develop in
line with business needs. Escalation procedures are in place.
The business identifies key risks at corporate directorate and functional levels. Risks are evaluated by considering their
consequences and likelihood, against risk appetite for the achievement of service delivery and business objectives. Existing
arrangements for managing the risks are considered and, where these are not assessed to be effective, action plans are
drawn up which aim to achieve the right balance between risk and control.
Key risks are being managed in a reasonable and prudent manner, having regard to the current regulatory framework and
available resources.
The risk register and risk management processes are reviewed annually by the Board, supplemented by quarterly updates
which review the status of the most significant business risks. The Audit Committee and the Executive Leadership Team
receive two risk reports per year, supplemented by quarterly updates. Further information is on pages 11 to 18.

Control activities
Scottish Water’s Internal Control Framework incorporates:
•P
 olicy-making and strategic direction at Board level. There is a formal schedule of matters reserved
for decision by Board Members.
•A
 n organisational structure which clearly defines lines of authority and accountability.
•A
 statement of general principles pertaining to rules and procedures for the regulation of the business.
•F
 inancial authority limits governing delegation of authority by the Board.
•R
 egular review by the Board and management of service, quality and financial performance compared to plan.
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•D
 evelopment of procedure manuals for staff instruction and guidance.

• Close attention given by the Board and management to safety, health and wellbeing issues.
High quality personnel are viewed as an essential part of the control environment. Ethical behaviour is incorporated into staff
conditions of service and demanding recruitment criteria and a policy for the development and training of staff supports
ethical standards.

Strategic report

•P
 roject approval, monitoring and control processes specifically developed for capital expenditure.

Control effectiveness review

Sustainable development
Scottish Water recognises the importance of fulfilling its social responsibilities. To this end, the Board has a Sustainable
Development Policy that includes social, economic and environmental aspects. The Board considers sustainable development
as part of its ongoing activities and in the development of its business plans.

Governance

Reviewing control effectiveness is a continuous process throughout the financial year. The Board gains assurance as to the
effectiveness of internal control through a collaborative approach, based on the work of internal and external audit, other
internal and external review agencies, and Executive Members’ reports. The controls assurance process is co-ordinated by
internal audit and incorporates independent assessment by audit, and annual statements of assurance from senior
management.

The Board is committed to providing an active but appropriate level of support to community projects.

Information and communication

Performance against these targets is reported monthly to the Board and quarterly to the regulators and the Scottish
Government. Scottish Water has an ongoing programme of developing systems to assist customer service and decision
making in financial and operational areas of the business. The overall aim is to produce relevant, reliable and timely
operational, financial, and compliance related information, consistent with the objectives of the business, to enable
management to exercise effective control and direction.
Scottish Water has a Consultation Code setting out how it consults external stakeholders in relation to proposals for, and the
undertaking of, significant core business activities.
Members of the Board meet quarterly with officials from the Scottish Government to discuss a range of business issues.

External Auditor
KPMG LLP, chartered accountants and registered auditors, were appointed as auditor by the Auditor General for Scotland in
accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.

Independence of external auditor
The Auditor General for Scotland is responsible to the Scottish Parliament for securing the audit of the financial statements of
Scottish Water. The Auditor General for Scotland appointed KPMG LLP as the auditor of Scottish Water for the financial years
2016/17 to 2020/21.
Under the terms of KPMG LLP’s appointment, they may not carry out any non-audit work for Scottish Water without the prior
approval of Audit Scotland, and must comply with Scottish Water’s policy on provision of non-audit services (see page 57).

Financials

Scottish Water has developed an annual budgeting and financial and performance reporting system that compares results
with budget on a monthly basis, providing information for internal and external reporting. Key performance targets have been
agreed with regulators and the Scottish Government.
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Committee Meetings
The Committee meets at least 4 times per year, 2 of which are co-ordinated with external reporting timetables. During 2017/18
the committee met on 5 occasions, with an extra meeting in May 2017 to focus on corporate reporting requirements.

The Audit Committee annually reviews its own effectiveness and reports the results to the Board.

The Committee’s Activities
The Committee agrees an annual work programme including reports to be received from senior management, Internal Audit
and external audit during the year. As well as the normal financial reporting activities, the Committee’s main activities during
the year included the following:

Governance

In addition to the Committee members, the Board Chair, Chief Executive, Finance Director, Head of Internal Audit, Group
Financial Controller, General Manager Revenue and Risk and the external audit partner also attend the meetings by invitation.
The Committee invites other senior management to present to the Committee on a regular basis on a variety of topics relevant
to its work. In line with best practice, the Committee meets in private, excluding any Executive Members, with the external
auditor and the Head of Internal Audit at least on an annual basis, or more frequently if required.

Strategic report

The Terms of Reference of the Committee are approved by the Board and in accordance with the Scottish Government Audit
Committee Handbook are reviewed annually by the Committee. The Committee Terms of Reference are available on the
Scottish Water website.

• Reviewing compliance with the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code;

• Discussing the principle business risks and mitigations in the quarterly risk reports;
• Discussing the work, the issues and management actions in Internal Audit reports;
• Outcomes of investigations resulting from fraud investigations and whistleblowing; and
• Forming its view of the “fair, balanced and understandable” and viability reporting obligations.

Financial Reporting
In order to inform the Committee’s reports to the Board, the Committee reviewed and considered the following areas in
respect of financial reporting and the preparation of the interim and Annual Report and Accounts:
• The appropriateness and quality of accounting policies;
• Compliance with financial reporting standards and clarity of associated disclosures; and
• Material areas in which primary judgements have been applied.
To assist in the discharge of its duties the Committee considers reports from the Group Financial Controller and reports
from the external auditor on the outcomes of their half-year review of interim financial statements, including confirmation
that the Accounts are prepared on a going concern basis. The Committee also considered and was satisfied with the papers
prepared by the Group Financial Controller and the external auditor covering the financial statements for full year 2017/18.
These included a section from Management supporting the going concern basis which the external auditor confirmed was
appropriate. Our view was also supported by Scottish Water’s Delivery Plan, which was accepted by Scottish Ministers on
21 April 2015 and is refreshed annually in March, which set out funding requirements for Scottish Water for the 2015-2021
regulatory period.
The Finance Director and external auditor of Scottish Water Business Stream are also in attendance when the Committee
reviews the consolidated interim and annual financial statements. As a consequence of the regulatory framework, the
independence of the Business Stream Board, and the associated limited disclosure regarding the activities of Business Stream,
the Audit Committee is in large part reliant on the Board of Business Stream to provide much of the necessary assurance and

Financials

•A
 ssessment of risk management controls covering risk appetite and business culture, risk management and control
systems, the monitoring and review thereof including sources of assurance and associated public reporting covering
going concern and future viability;
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governance requirements. Additional assurance is gained through governance exercised through Scottish Water Business
Stream Holdings Ltd (SWBSH). The Board of SWBSH has several Directors in common with Scottish Water and receives reports
from Business Stream management covering financial performance and specific risks facing Business Stream, in particular the
impact of increased competition within the Scottish business retail market and entry into the English business retail market.
The primary areas of judgement considered by the Committee in relation to the 2017/18 Accounts were:
•R
 isks within the corporate risk register which could impact on the financial statements and judgments therein. The primary
areas of focus included the sensitivities on future household cash collection rates and the associated level of bad debt
provisioning;
•T
 he delivery costs associated with Scottish Water’s capital investment programme and the associated expenditure
classifications;
•R
 evenue recognition, in particular within the wholesale operational arena, including the impact of the new vacant charging
regime; and
•T
 he key assumptions associated with determining the actuarial valuation of pension obligations, and the ring-fencing of
the Scottish Water element of each pension fund; and
•T
 he estimated useful life adopted by Business Stream in respect of its intangible asset.
After discussion of these with management and the external auditor the Committee was satisfied that the issues raised had
been properly dealt with and that appropriate disclosures have been included in the accounts. The external auditor carried out
their work using an overall materiality of £9.5 million, representing 1% of total expenses, incurred in 2016/17 (excluding interest),
in the consolidated income statement for 2017/18. However, the Committee agreed with the external auditor that the firm
would report any misstatements identified during the audit above £200,000, as well as misstatements below that amount that,
in their view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons. The external auditor confirmed to the Committee that there were no
unadjusted misstatements that warranted reporting. In addition, the Chief Scientist, the Head of Internal Audit and the General
Manager Revenue and Risk carried out a review to verify that the Annual Report and Accounts are fair, balanced and
understandable, the results of which were considered by the Committee prior to recommending Board approval of the Annual
Report and Accounts.
Consequently, and supported by a comprehensive management and statutory accounts process, with written confirmations
provided by senior management on the ‘health’ of the financial and risk control environment, the Committee and the Board are
satisfied that the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable, and provide the
information necessary to assess Scottish Water’s performance, business model and strategy.

Scottish Water’s Internal Control and Risk Management processes
Over the year the Committee received papers from Group Finance associated with the 2016 Corporate Governance Code,
one of which included a risk management assessment control schedule. This schedule included a detailed 23 point checklist
supported by a detailed record of evidence sources and satisfaction ratings of that evidence.
Evidence sources were grouped into 6 categories including risk register & management processes, policy & procedure
processes, assurance statements and independent reviews. The Committee also approved Scottish Water’s new risk
management policy.
In addition, the Committee reviews the framework of internal controls and the processes by which the organisation’s control
environment is evaluated. To support this, the Committee receives and considers:
•R
 eports from Internal Audit on the effectiveness of internal controls and issues requiring improvement, including reported
fraud allegations;
•O
 bservations from the external audit on the internal control environment and any specific control issues identified;
•C
 orporate risk reports summarising key risks in the corporate risk register including mitigating actions, risk trends, and
summarising compliance with Scottish Water’s risk appetite;
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• Reports covering the stress testing of the key quantitative and qualitative risks facing the Group;

• An annual report from the compliance officer;
• An annual corporate governance report;
• An Internal Audit annual opinion and report;

Strategic report

• Bi-annual report from the Business Ethics Committee;

• An annual report on regulatory compliance;
• An annual statement of compliance with the Modern Slavery Act 2015; and
• An annual Tax Strategy.

The Committee provides the Board with an annual report on the effectiveness of the internal control framework. To support
this, the Committee receives an annual report and opinion from the Head of Internal Audit.

Governance

In addition, during the year the Committee requested specific reports on drinking water quality, compliance with General
Data Protection Regulation, finance systems implementations and supplier rebates.

Internal Audit

External Audit
The Auditor General for Scotland is responsible for the appointment of the Scottish Water external auditor and undertook a
robust tender and assessment exercise for Scottish Water and many other public sector organisations, which resulted in the
appointment of KPMG as Scottish Water’s external auditor for a 5 year period from 2016/17 to 2020/21.
The Committee received from KPMG an audit plan, including their assessment of key risks and confirmation of their
independence. Following completion of their interim review and annual audit, the Committee receive an internal control
report highlighting any internal control weaknesses and the management actions to address these.
Annually the Committee assess, with input from management, and provide feedback to Audit Scotland on the effectiveness
of the external auditor. In addition to the private meetings with the Committee members, the Chair of the Audit Committee
also meets the external audit partner outside of the formal Committee meetings.

Auditor Independence
During 2015/16 the Committee approved a policy on provision of non-audit services to Scottish Water and this was extended
to all subsidiaries in 2016/17 by the firm appointed as external auditor.
The Committee monitors implementation of the policy through receipt of a report every 6 months, or as required, analysing
fees paid for any non-audit work by the external auditor, with additional commentary on assignments and on work carried out
or to be done relating to safeguards of independence.
Having considered compliance with our policy, the Committee is satisfied that KPMG has remained independent.

James Coyle
Chair of the Audit Committee

Financials

The Committee approves annually the Internal Audit Charter and the annual Internal Audit plan, with any subsequent
changes requiring Committee approval. It also reviews the scope and results of Internal Audit reviews and its effectiveness
throughout the year. At each main Committee meeting reports were received from the Head of Internal Audit. These reports
included progress in delivering the Internal Audit plan, audit findings and management action plans to address these,
performance in implementing management action plans, any fraud allegation investigations and details of relevant Audit
Scotland reports. In addition to the private meetings with the Committee members, the Chair of the Audit Committee also
meets the Head of Internal Audit outside of the formal Committee meetings.
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Remuneration committee

Annual Statement by the Chair of the Remuneration Committee
It is my pleasure to present the Members’ remuneration report for the year ended 31 March 2018. In preparing this report I am
thankful for the support of fellow Remuneration Committee and Non-executive Members, Matt Smith and Paul Smith. I would
also like to thank former Remuneration Committee Chair, Alan Bryce, for his contribution over 9 years, before he stepped
down as a Non-executive Member on 31st March 2018.
As required, the Committee receives internal advice and information from the Chair of Scottish Water, the Chief Executive,
the Director for People, and the Group Legal Counsel. In March 2018, the Remuneration Committee received advice and
information on UK pension tax legislation from Mercers, a specialist adviser in such matters.
The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to consider the remuneration arrangements for Executive Members, and other
related remuneration matters, making recommendations to the Board. There were 3 meetings of the Committee in 2017/18.
At each meeting a quorum of independent, Non-executive Members was present. No Executive Member was present during
discussions about their own remuneration.
We continue to operate a simple remuneration structure made up of base salary and benefits, an annual out-performance
incentive plan (AOIP) and a single long-term incentive plan (LTIP) which provide a clear link between pay and our key strategic
priorities.
The key decisions made by the Committee over the 2017/18 period were as follows:

Decisions / remuneration for 2017/18
•A
 greeing the base salary increase of 2.0% of the Executive Members and Chief Executive from 1 April 2017.
•C
 onfirming the 2017/18 AOIP payment calculated at 35.75% out of the 40% maximum opportunity for Executive
Members and Chief Executive.
•R
 eviewing management’s proposed salary increases for Scottish Water employees.
•R
 eview of succession planning for posts on the Executive Leadership Team.

Changes / remuneration for 2018/19
•A
 greeing base salary increases for Executive Members, with effect from 1 April 2018, at 1.5% plus £1,600 in line
with the Scottish Government’s Public Sector Pay Policy.
•S
 etting the performance criteria for the 2018/19 AOIP.
Our Remuneration Policy and our Annual Report on Remuneration is set out on pages 59 to 68.

Samantha Barber
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
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The presentation of this Remuneration Report complies with the HM Treasury
Financial Reporting Manual (December 2015) and, as far as is appropriate, also
adopts the same practice as quoted companies even though Scottish Water
is not a quoted company.

Overview

Members’ remuneration report

1. Statement of Executive Remuneration Policy
a. General Policy

Scottish Water will continue to provide a working environment that matches the expectations placed on our people to deliver
best value outcomes in an empowered organisation. Remuneration and incentivisation policies are a major contributor to
achieving Scottish Water’s goals. This requires terms of employment for all employees that, taken together, ensure the
organisation is perceived as a fair employer that encourages excellence, rewards performance and empowers its people while
providing scope for personal development.

Governance

Scottish Water’s vision is to be trusted to serve Scotland by caring for the water on which Scotland depends. By building on
past success we seek to provide levels of service, performance and efficiency which exceed the expectation of customers,
regulators and the Scottish Government.

The overall remuneration policy aims are to:
• Attract, develop, motivate and retain highly talented people at all levels of the organisation; and
• Incentivise and reward good individual and corporate performance as well as out-performance.
The Remuneration Policy for Executive Members consists of five principal elements:
• Base salary;
• Annual out-performance incentive plan (AOIP);
• Long-term incentive plan (LTIP);
• Pension; and
• Allowances (for business needs, car, relocation, etc.).

c. Relative importance of performance incentives
Scottish Water is a performance-orientated business, where Executive Members’ remuneration should be closely linked to
corporate performance and out-performance. The aim is to pay a base salary that is competitive, but appropriate for a public
corporation, while providing for incentive pay to be earned for out-performance of demanding targets.

d. Base Salary
Scottish Water is publicly owned and accountable to the Scottish Parliament and Scottish Ministers. Within the context of
public sector ownership, the company seeks to attract, retain and motivate leadership talent in competition with private sector
utilities and other organisations across the UK economy, as well as with employers in the public sector.
Scottish Water subscribes to the remuneration database of Hay Group Management Ltd and uses this as required to review
the remuneration of comparator organisations and industry in general against its own. This is one of the largest remuneration
databases in the UK with each job subjected to the same method of job sizing.
The aim is to pay in line with 95% of the median of an agreed industry benchmark group, reflecting remuneration levels in
comparable organisations for similar work. Analysis is carried out approximately every three years and when last undertaken
by Hay Group in November 2015, showed that Executive Members’ base salaries ranged between 74% and 85% of the industry
median, with the average position being 80%. There is no indication that the position to the external market has moved
materially since then.

Financials

b. Remuneration elements

60

Scottish Water Annual Report and Accounts 2017/2018

e. Annual Out-performance Incentive Plan
Scottish Water has an AOIP designed to incentivise and reward the out-performance of targets agreed with regulators. Targets
are set out in the Delivery Plan for the regulated business that has been approved by Scottish Ministers and reflect those set by
the Water Industry Commission in its Final Determination of charges.
The Remuneration Committee maintains the right to withhold or vary AOIP payments (potentially to zero) should events
undermine the financial stability or reputation of Scottish Water. Such reduction may be carried out at any time prior to AOIP
payments being made.
The potential maximum annual incentive attainable for out-performance by Executive Members is 40% of base salary and is
non-pensionable. Delivery Plan targets, out-performance targets, and actual performance for each measure in 2017/18 are set
out below.
Measure

Weight

Delivery Plan
target

Out-performance target

Actual
performance

Regulated Profit before tax excluding
depreciation

40% (1)

£415m

Profit Before Tax and Depreciation
(PBTDA) to beat delivery plan by
£0 to £33m. Sliding scale with 0%
at delivery plan figure and 100%
at +£33m

£469m

Customer service OPA performance

25%

382 to 400
points

Overall Performance Assessment
(OPA) based on sliding scale
discussed with Customer Forum
where, for 2017-18, the Leading
score is 382 points and Best in
Class is 400 points.

406 points

Below leading score 0%; at leading
score 30%; at best in class 90%;
beat best in class 100%.
Customer Experience – Household
Measure

25%

Exceed 82.6
points

The target operates on a sliding
scale from 82.6 to the business
target of 85.87 points with 0%
payable below 82.6 points; 30%
payable at 82.6 points; and 100%
payable at 86.5 points or more.

86.36 points

Customer Benefit – Overall Measure
of Delivery

10%

Exceed 124
points

Exceed the target Overall Measure
of Delivery (OMD) of 124 points
and ensure forecast capital
programme cost is within the
regulatory allowance(2). Once these
targets are achieved, payment
depends on the number of Q&S3a
and 3b projects outstanding at
31 March 2018, so that: 0% for
more than 6 projects; 7% at 6; 8%
at 5; 9% at 4; 10% at 3 projects or
fewer.

148 points;
3 Q&S3b
projects
outstanding;
programme
forecast cost
outside of
regulatory
allowance

Notes
(1)	PBTDA is a gateway on the AOIP scheme i.e. payments must be funded from financial out-performance; the delivery plan figure will be as updated for
inflation and regulatory out-turn assumptions.
(2)	Plus customer contributions.

The awards generated by this performance are detailed in the single figure table of the Members’ Remuneration Report.
Non-executive Members are not eligible for annual incentive payments.
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The 2015-21 LTIP has been agreed with the Scottish Government and provides clear targets for out-performance of the Water
Industry Commission’s Final Determination for the 2015-21 period. The LTIP is funded by 10% (2010-15 LTIP: 12%) of base salary
that will be in payment at the end of the performance period being accumulated each year during the 6 years to March 2021,
ultimately vesting as determined by the performance targets below and being paid as a single sum at the end of the 2015-21
period. Any LTIP payment is funded from financial out-performance after payment of any incentive awards to employees and is
non-pensionable. The LTIP will only be payable if there is overall financial out-performance of the Final Determination.

Strategic report

f. Long-term Incentive Plan to incentivise out-performance in the six years to March 2021

The Remuneration Committee maintains the right to withhold or vary LTIP payments (potentially to zero) should events
undermine the financial stability or reputation of Scottish Water. Such reduction may be carried out at any time prior to LTIP
payments being made.
The LTIP structure for the 2015-21 period is as follows:
Basis of
calculation

Target

Growth in cash, measured as debt less cash, relative to the
Final Determination

50%

Straight line
sliding scale

£0 to £200m above Final
Determination (before
any cash returned to
customers)1

OPA – the average performance 2015-21 linked to leading
company and best in class thresholds agreed with the
Customer Forum

50%

Sliding scale

• 0% below an avg.
382.5 points
• 30% at an avg.
382.5 points
• 90% at an avg. 400 points
• 100% for an avg. >400
points

Notes:
(1)

Cash growth is before the impact of valid changes to external costs (e.g. rates) and any restrictions of customer price increases.

Payments generated under the LTIP will be included in the Members’ Remuneration Report when those are made.
Non-executive Members are not eligible for long-term incentive payments.

g. Pension
All employees, including Executive Members, are eligible to participate in the Scottish Local Government Pension Scheme
(SLGPS) which is a contributory, defined benefit scheme operating under regulations determined by the Scottish Parliament.
These regulations require Scottish Water to offer this pension to all employees and in the case of the Executive Members
participation is via the Lothian Pension Fund. All pension scheme members may request flexible retirement from age 55,
reducing their hours or grade to receive all or part of their pension while continuing to work.
The value of pension provided through the SLGPS is set out in section 2.c of the Members’ Remuneration Report.
Non-executive Members are not eligible to receive pension benefits.

h. Benefits
A car is provided to all Executive Members for business needs. For those opting out of car provision, a car allowance is
payable instead. Non-executive members are not eligible for a car or car allowance.
Executive Members are covered by the Scottish Water Life Assurance Scheme that covers all employees.
The value of allowances received is set out in the benefits column of the single figure table in the Members’ Remuneration
Report.

Financials

Weighting
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Measure
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i. Approach to recruitment remuneration
The remuneration of any new Executive Member will be agreed with the Scottish Government prior to appointment of that
Member. The Remuneration Committee will recommend a recruitment package, encompassing those elements that apply to
other Executive Members and that are detailed elsewhere in this remuneration policy.
If recruitment of an Executive Member requires compensation for relocation this would normally be calculated as per
Scottish Water’s relocation policies and would be included in any recommendation made. Should recruitment of an Executive
Member require compensation for forfeit of variable remuneration from a former employer, this would also be included in any
recommendation made.
The appointment and remuneration of the Chair of Scottish Water and Non-executive Members is agreed by Scottish
Ministers, with regard to the daily fee framework of the Scottish Government’s Pay Policy for Senior Appointments. Fees paid
reflect the time commitment anticipated for each role and are detailed in the Members’ Remuneration Report.

j. Payments on loss of office
Executive Members are expected to work the notice periods in their service contracts. In circumstances where it is in the
operational interests of Scottish Water for an Executive Member to leave before the end of their notice period, the
Remuneration Committee will consider options such as ‘garden leave’ or paying in lieu for all or part notice on a case-by-case
basis.
The Remuneration Committee may decide that a portion of the incentive payment is payable to former Executive Members
in certain circumstances such as departure due to redundancy and efficiency, ill health or normal retirement, or death in
service. Any incentive payment so determined will be paid no earlier than would have been the case had the Member not left
Scottish Water. If an Executive Member leaves the employ of Scottish Water for any other reason and before incentive
payments under the AOIP or LTIP would be due, their payment will normally be forfeit.
Where an Executive Member leaves for reasons of efficiency or redundancy, any severance payment that may apply will be
on the same terms as for any other employee leaving under such circumstances and will be as set out under the approved
redundancy scheme in operation at the time. Where the Executive Member is a member of the SLGPS then access to pension
benefits on leaving will be determined by the regulations of that pension scheme, as for any other SLGPS member.
No compensation is payable to any Non-executive Member if their appointment is terminated early.

k. Consideration of employment conditions elsewhere in the company
The Remuneration Committee requests and receives information as required on pay and terms and conditions for all
employees in order to provide context for decisions on executive pay. This information includes comparison of the salary and
total pay of the Chief Executive versus that of the median and average salary and total pay of other employees; as well as
consideration of the ratio between the lowest and highest potential total pay in the organisation.
When determining payments to be made under the AOIP, the Remuneration Committee considers the proportion of potential
payment resulting to Executive Members from corporate out-performance and how that same out-performance drives
payments to other employees under their AOIP arrangements. In addition, any review of executive salaries includes
consideration of the pay adjustment opportunities available to other employees.
In addition, for the 2015-21 period, Scottish Water discussed its incentive plans with the Customer Forum to ensure that
those measures and targets which must be out-performed, align with customer expectations of what matters most within
Scottish Water’s delivered performance.
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Details of Executive Members’ permanent contracts are set out below.
Executive Member

Name

Date of Contract

Chief Executive

Douglas Millican

1 February 2013

Chief Operating Officer

Peter Farrer

1 April 2013

Finance Director

Alan Scott

24 September 2013

Strategic report

l. Service contracts

All Members are required to give 6 months’ notice of resignation. Scottish Water is required to give Members 12 months’
notice of termination.
Non-executive Members do not have service contracts. Expiry dates of Non-executive appointments are as follows:
Dame Susan Rice, Chair

30 April 2019

Iain Lanaghan

31 March 2021

James Coyle

31 July 2020

Matt Smith

30 April 2021

Paul Smith

31 July 2020

Deirdre Michie

30 November 2021

Samantha Barber

31 March 2021

Kenneth Marnoch

31 March 2022

Governance

Non-executive Members

Financials
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2. Members’ Remuneration Report
The auditors are required to report on information contained in sections 2.a to 2.d of the Remuneration Report.

a. Single Total Figure Table
Salary/
Fees

Benefits (i)

AOIP
(ii)

Total

Pension
(iii)

Total (iv)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Executive Members
Douglas Millican
Peter Farrer
Alan Scott

2018

256

12

92

360

–17

343

2017

251

12

86

349

63

412

2018

186

12

67

265

–15

250

2017

183

12

63

258

48

306

2018

184

9

66

259

21

280

2017

180

11

62

253

52

305

Non-executive Members (iv)
Chair – Dame Susan Rice
Samantha Barber (vi)
Alan Bryce (viii)
James Coyle (v)
Iain Lanaghan (vi)
Deirdre Michie (vii)
Lynne Peacock (viii)

2018

101

101

101

2017

100

100

100

2018

21

21

21

2017

–

–

–

2018

26

26

26

2017

26

26

26

2018

24

24

24

2017

14

14

14

2018

21

21

21

2017

–

–

–

2018

7

7

7

2017

–

–

–

2018

14

14

14

2017

26

26

26

2018

21

21

21

2017

20

20

20

2018

21

21

21

2017

14

14

14

Geoff Aitkenhead (x)

2017

47

68

68

James Spowart (xi)

2017

20

20

20

Andrew Wyllie (xi)

2017

20

20

20

Total Remuneration

2018

882

33

225

1,140

–11

1,129

2017

901

40

227

1,168

163

1,331

Matt Smith
Paul Smith (v)
Former Members

5

16
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Notes:

as described in the Executive Remuneration policy. The value of each benefit is described in a separate table below.
(ii)

Annual Out-performance Incentive Plan as described in the Executive Remuneration Policy.

(iii)	The value of pension benefits accrued is calculated in accordance with section 5.3.21 (d) of the HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual 2017/18. This
requires the real increase in accrued benefits, as detailed in section 2c below, to be multiplied by 20, plus the real increase in accrued lump sum and
reduced by the contribution made by the individual member. The decrease in Mr Millican’s and Mr Farrer’s pension benefits in the year reflects the impact

Strategic report

(i)	Benefits include the value of car benefit or car allowance and annual life assurance premiums associated with the Scottish Water Life Assurance Scheme

of a tax charge associated with their accrued pension benefits resulting in a reduced future pension.
(iv)	Fees are agreed by Scottish Ministers with regard to the daily fee framework of the Scottish Government’s Pay Policy for Senior Appointments and
payments reflect the time commitment required for each role.
(v)

Payments received by Paul Smith and James Coyle in 2017 are from their appointments on 1st August 2016. James Coyle’s remuneration in 2018 reflects
his position as Audit Committee Chair from 1st August 2017.
Payments received by Samantha Barber and Iain Lanaghan are from their appointments on 1st April 2017.

(vii)

Payments received by Deirdre Michie are from her appointment on 1st December 2017.

(viii)

Alan Bryce and Lynne Peacock each stepped down from the Board on 31st March 2018 and 31 October 2017 respectively.

(ix)

Kenneth Marnoch was appointed on 1st April 2018 and so received no remuneration in this reporting period.

(x)

Payments received by Geoff Aitkenhead until his retirement on 31 July 2016.

(xi)

James Spowart and Andrew Wyllie each stepped down from the Board on 31 March 2017.

Governance

(vi)

The Committee approved a 1.5% + £1,600 increase in base salaries for the three Executive Members with effect from 1 April
2018. Consequently, base salaries for 2018/19 are as follows: Douglas Millican £261,654; Peter Farrer £190,571; and Alan Scott
£188,372. Fee levels for Non-executive Members, including the Chair, for 2018/19 will increase by £6 per day, also with effect
from 1 April 2018 and in line with Public Sector Pay Policy for Senior Appointments.

Name

Car benefit
or car
allowance
£000

Life
assurance
premium
£000

Total
£000

Douglas Millican

10

2

12

Peter Farrer

10

2

12

Alan Scott

7

2

9

Financials

b. Details of benefits received 2017/18
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c. Total pension entitlements to end of financial year 2017/18
The Executive Members Douglas Millican, Peter Farrer and Alan Scott are eligible to participate in the Lothian Pension Fund,
a defined benefit scheme. The table below presents pension accruals under the regulations of the SLGPS.
Increase/(Decrease) in
accrued benefits during the
year net of inflation

Accumulated total
accrued benefits at
31 March 2018

Transfer Values
At 31
March
2017
£000

Increase /(Decrease)
in 2017/18 net of
Members’ own
contributions and
inflation £000

Years in
Scheme

Pension
£000

Lump
sum
£000

Pension
£000

Lump
sum
£000

At 31
March
2018
£000

Douglas Millican

23.1

1

-1

70

135

1,471

1,451

-49

Peter Farrer

33.7

–

-2

85

172

1,752

1,648

35

4.5

2

–

14

–

226

178

22

Alan Scott
Notes:

(i)	Members of the pension scheme have the option to pay additional voluntary contributions; neither the contributions nor the resulting benefits are
included in the above table.
(ii)	The normal retirement age of Executive Members is determined by the rules of the Scottish Local Government Pension Scheme. For pension accrued up
to 31 March 2015 this is age 65. For pension benefits accrued after that date, normal retirement age is set equal to the individual’s state pension age. Any
pension benefits drawn before normal retirement age are usually reduced in value by actuarial factors reflecting the anticipated longer payment period.
(iii)	The pension entitlement shown is that which would be paid annually on retirement along with the lump sum, based on service to the end of the year.
(iv)

The transfer value of accrued pension is calculated in a manner consistent with Actuarial Guidance Note GN11.

(v)	The rate of tax payable on pension savings above the lifetime allowance of £1.03m depends on how the money is paid to individuals. The current rate is
55% if the individual takes a lump sum, or 25% if the individual takes it as pension payments or cash withdrawals.

d. Pay multiples
The table below discloses the relationship between the Chief Executive’s pay to the average pay of employees within
Scottish Water.
Remuneration excluding
movement in pension (i)
£000
2017/18

2016/17

360.0

349.0

Employees (ii)

33.6

33.0

Ratio

10.7

10.6

Chief Executive

Notes:
(i)	The total excludes the calculation of change in pension as the value relies heavily on length of pensionable service and so has little meaning when comparing
one person (the Chief Executive) against a group of employees with varying lengths of service, i.e. an individual with greater pensionable service could see
a faster increase in calculated pension value than someone with shorter pensionable service, even if they are paid the same during a financial year.
(ii)	Based on the average full time equivalent salary, AOIP and benefits of all employees with a full year of service, other than Executive Members.
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g. Executive Members’ Directorships of other companies
The Remuneration Committee supports active development of Executive Members including their involvement with other
companies and public bodies where this is compatible with fulfilling their responsibilities to Scottish Water. In line with this
policy, Douglas Millican, Chief Executive, was appointed as a non-executive director and trustee of World Vision UK in
March 2017, from which no remuneration is payable.
This report was approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Samantha Barber
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
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Members’ report

The Government Financial Reporting Manual 2017/18 (FReM), published by HM Treasury, sets out the form and content for
the annual report and accounts. This includes the requirements to show a Performance Report and Accountability Report.
The Members have reviewed the requirements of the FReM, and are satisfied that they are covered within the Overview,
Strategic and Governance reports within this annual report and accounts.

Strategic report

The Members present the Members’ report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The Members’ report comprises pages 69 to 71 and the sections of the annual report incorporated by reference are as follows:
See pages 48 to 71

Strategic report, including information in respect of:
Scottish Water’s results, key financial information and service
performance, future developments and the principal risks and
uncertainties faced by Scottish Water’s group of companies

See pages 6 to 46

Going concern and viability statements

See page 19

Greenhouse gas emissions

See page 31

People

See pages 42 to 44

Accounting requirements and basis of account preparation

See Note 1.2, page 84

Financial risk management

See page 112

Governance

Corporate governance report

Members and their interests

Appointment and replacement of Members
Schedule 3 of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002 specifies Scottish Water’s Board must comprise between 5 and 8
Non-Executive Members and between 3 and 5 Executive Members. One Member must have special knowledge of the
interests of the employees of Scottish Water. Non-Executive appointments are made by the Scottish Ministers for 3 to 5 years
following an open and transparent public appointment process. Executive Members are appointed by Scottish Water with the
consent of the Scottish Ministers for an unidentified period. The Members appointments can be terminated under procedures
set out in Paragraph 1 of Schedule 3 of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002. Details of the Members’ service contracts are
on page 63 of the Members’ Remuneration Report.

Employee relations and involvement
The Scottish Water group of businesses employed an average of 4,321 (2017: 4,120) staff during the year. Details of the costs
incurred in relation to these staff can be found in note 5 to the financial statements on page 92. Scottish Water is committed to
a policy of equal opportunities for all employees irrespective of race, religion, sex, sexual orientation, disability or age and uses
a number of forums to encourage employee involvement. Employees are kept involved through a process of regular team
meetings, employee newsletters and representation on consultative forums.
Scottish Water is committed to continually improving its performance in relation to safety, health and wellbeing. Through an
extensive safety awareness campaign, safety briefings and ongoing training, awareness of safety, health and wellbeing issues
is being encouraged and increased among employees.
Further information is contained in the People section of on pages 42 to 44.

Financials

All Members have declared that they had no material interests in any contracts awarded during the year by Scottish Water.
A register of Members’ interests is maintained at Scottish Water’s head office and is open for inspection during normal office
hours.
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Research and development
To ensure that Scottish Water derives benefit from the most up-to-date research being undertaken within the industry,
research expenditure is targeted towards collaborative research with other water operators and regulators within the UK.
This ensures that access is gained to high value, widely based research programmes in the Environmental, Quality,
Engineering, Operational and Regulatory fields. Research into issues common to the UK water industry is procured through
membership of the UK Water Industry Research Centre and the Foundation of Water Research. In addition, Horizons has
developed and operates specialist innovation development centres at Gorthleck and Bo’ness to test new products and
processes associated with the treatment of drinking water and waste water. Further information is contained within the
Innovation section on page 33.

Political contributions
No political contributions were made during the year (2017: nil).

Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010
Sections 31 and 32 of the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 impose new duties on the Scottish Government and
listed public bodies to publish information on expenditure and certain other matters as soon as is reasonably practicable
after the end of each financial year.
In accordance with the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010, Scottish Water will publish the full information as required
by the act on the Scottish Water website (www.scottishwater.co.uk) following the approval of the Scottish Water Annual Report
and Accounts 2017/18. The report for this financial year will be available from August 2018.

Members’ responsibilities
The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the statement of auditors’ responsibilities included in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 74 to 79, is made with a view to distinguishing the respective responsibilities of the
Members and of the auditor in relation to the financial statements.
The Members are required by the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002 and directions made thereunder to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Scottish Water and of its income and
expenditure for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the Members are required to:
• s elect suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make
	
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state
	
whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and
•p
 repare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to do so.
The Members are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any time,
the financial position of Scottish Water and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with statute and any
financial reporting requirements. They are also responsible for taking reasonable steps to safeguard the assets of the business
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
The Members are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of Scottish Water’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
The Members, as at the date of this report, consider that the Annual Report and Accounts taken as a whole is fair, balanced
and understandable and provides the information necessary to assess Scottish Water’s performance, business model and
strategy.
Each of the Members, whose names and functions are listed in the Board Members section on pages 48 and 49, confirms that
to the best of their knowledge and belief:

Scottish Water Annual Report and Accounts 2017/2018
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• t he Strategic Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of
Scottish Water, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.
Each of the persons who is a Member at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

Strategic report

• the
	 Group and Company financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and interpreted by the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM),
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and surplus of Scottish Water;

• so
	 far as the Member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware;
•e
 ach Member has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Member in order to make himself/herself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Douglas Millican
Chief Executive
30 May 2018

Governance

By order of the Board,

Financials
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Independent auditor’s report
Independent auditor’s report to the members of Scottish Water,
the Auditor General for Scotland and the Scottish Parliament

The purpose of our audit work and to whom
we owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is
addressed in accordance with the Public Finance and
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other
purpose. In accordance with paragraph 120 of the Code
of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for
Scotland, we do not undertake to have responsibilities to
members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to
third parties.

Report on the audit of the
financial statements
Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements in the annual
report and accounts of Scottish Water for the year ended
31 March 2018 under the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002.
The financial statements comprise the Group and Company
Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Income Statement, the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the
Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes in
Equity, the Group and Company Statements of Cash Flow
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is
applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and
as interpreted and adapted by the 2017–18 Government
Financial Reporting Manual (the 2017–18 FReM).
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements:
•g
 ive a true and fair view in accordance with the Water
Industry (Scotland) Act 2002 and directions made
thereunder by the Scottish Ministers of the state of
affairs of the body and its group as at 31 March 2018
and of the group’s surplus for the year then ended;
•h
 ave been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and
adapted by the 2017–18 FReM; and
•h
 ave been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002
and directions made thereunder by the Scottish
Ministers.

Basis of opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law
and International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the body and its group in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the UK including the Financial
Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Conclusion relating to principal risks, going concern
and viability statement
We have nothing to report in respect of the following
information in the annual report and accounts, in relation to
which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you whether we
have anything material to add or draw attention to:
• the disclosures in the annual report and accounts that
describe the principal risks and explain how they are
being managed or mitigated;
• the board members’ confirmation in the annual report
and accounts that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the body and its
group, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity;
• the board members’ statement about whether they
considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements, and their
identification of any material uncertainties to the ability
of the body and its group to continue to do so over a
period of at least twelve months from the date of the
approval of the financial statements;
• the board members’ explanation in the annual report
and accounts as to how they have assessed the
prospects of the body and its group, over what period
they have done so and why they consider that period
to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether
they have a reasonable expectation that the body and
its group will be able to continue in operation and meet
its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their
assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary qualifications or
assumptions.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2018
1 Accounting policies
1.1 General information
Scottish Water is a public sector body, classified as a public corporation of a trading nature, and is answerable to the Scottish
Parliament through Scottish Ministers.
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.

1.2 Basis of preparation
The financial statements of Scottish Water for the year ended 31 March 2018 have been prepared in accordance with EU
adopted and endorsed International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) interpretations, as interpreted by the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM). The FReM is published
by HM Treasury and is available from their website.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of derivative financial instruments at fair value through the profit and loss. The financial statements
are prepared in a form directed by Scottish Ministers in accordance with section 45(2) of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002.
The Company’s financial statements have been prepared on the same basis and, as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies
Act 2006, no income statement or statement of comprehensive income is presented for the Company.
Scottish Water’s accounting policies, as set out below, have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.
Scottish Water’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS since 1 April 2008. The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies (note 2).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling which is the functional and presentational currency of
Scottish Water and its subsidiaries.

1.3 Changes in accounting policy
There were no new standards, amendments or interpretations that were effective for the first time during the year that had a
material impact on Scottish Water. The amendments to standards which were adopted by Scottish Water with effect from
1 April 2017 were:
– Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle;
– Amendments to IAS 7 ‘Statement of cash flows’ and IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’;

1.4 Accounting standards not yet adopted by Scottish Water
As at the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following key standards and interpretations were in issue but
not yet effective (and in some cases had not yet been adopted by the EU). Consequently, Scottish Water has not applied these
new IFRSs and IFRICs in the preparation of the financial statements.
– IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’;
– IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’;
– IFRS 16 ‘Leases’;
– Annual improvements to IFRSs 2015–2017 Cycle; and
– Amendments to the Conceptual Framework, IAS 19 ‘Employee benefits’ and IAS 28 ‘Investment in associates & joint
ventures’.
Scottish Water expects that only IFRS 16 will have a material effect on the results and net assets of Scottish Water. The impact
on Scottish Water’s financial statements of the future adoption of this and the other new standards, interpretations and
amendments is currently under review.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2018
continued
1 Accounting policies continued
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

1.11 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment comprises water and waste water infrastructure assets and other assets, being overground
assets including operational properties, plant, machinery and vehicles.
Property, plant and equipment are included at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes the
acquisition or construction cost together with any expenditure directly attributable to bringing the asset into use, including
directly attributable internal costs and, where material, borrowing costs. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred. All items of property, plant and equipment, with the exception of land and assets under construction, are
subject to depreciation.

Infrastructure assets
The infrastructure assets comprise a network of water and waste water systems including mains, sewers, impounding and
pumped raw water storage reservoirs, dams, sludge pipelines and outfalls. Expenditure on infrastructure assets, which relates to
increases in capacity or enhancements of the network, is treated as additions. Expenditure incurred in maintaining and repairing
the operating capability of the network is expensed in the year in which it is incurred. Depreciation is calculated for each
component of the network with similar characteristics and asset lives.

Other assets
All other property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful economic lives.

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the income statement to write-off cost, less residual values, on a straight-line basis over the
estimated operational lives of the assets, from the date of beneficial use. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. Freehold land and assets under construction are not
depreciated. The estimated useful lives for assets depreciated are as follows:
Infrastructure assets							80 to 150 years
Non-specialised operational buildings and structures				

60 years

Fixtures, fittings and furniture within non-specialised operational buildings		

5 years

Specialised operational buildings and structures				

20 to 80 years

Plant, machinery and vehicles 						

1 to 20 years

1.12 Leased assets
Leases where Scottish Water control through ownership, beneficial entitlement or otherwise, any significant residual interest in
the assets at the end of the service concession agreements are treated as finance leases. Private Finance Initiative (PFI) contracts
are treated as finance leases, in accordance with IFRIC 12.
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as part of the property, plant and equipment of the Group at their fair value
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, as determined at the inception of the PFI contract. The
corresponding liability is included in the Balance Sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation. Finance charges are charged directly to the income statement. The
property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and
the lease term.
All other leases are categorised as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income
statement over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis.

1.13 Impairment of assets
The carrying values of the Group’s non-current assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be justified. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2018
continued
1 Accounting policies continued
1.19 Employee benefit obligations
Employees of Scottish Water participate in the Scottish Local Government Pension Scheme (SLGPS) administered by Aberdeen,
Glasgow and Edinburgh City Councils, all of which are defined benefit schemes. Pension scheme assets are measured using the
bid market values. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using the projected unit actuarial method and are discounted at the
current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liability.
Any increase in the present value of liabilities within the defined benefit pension schemes expected to arise from employee
service in the period is charged to operating surplus. The net interest cost for the period, calculated by applying the discount
rate to the net pension scheme liabilities, is included in the finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full as an
item of ‘other comprehensive income’ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Pension scheme deficits and
surpluses, to the extent that the surplus is considered recoverable, are recognised in full and presented on the face of the
balance sheet.
In December 2016, Business Stream introduced a new defined contribution pension scheme, administered by Standard Life.
Employees joining Business Stream after this date enrol in this scheme, with the SLGPS closed to new employees from the same
date.

1.20 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation for a past event, for which it is probable that a transfer of
economic benefits will be required and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions currently
relate to onerous property rental costs, income uncertainty and redundancy costs associated with employees who will leave
Scottish Water under voluntary redundancy and early retirement. Pension related liabilities associated with employees who have
left Scottish Water under the voluntary severance scheme are recognised in the pension liability.

1.21 Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from (i) the settlement of such transactions and (ii) the retranslation to exchange rates ruling at the
balance sheet date of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

1.22 Indebtedness to the Scottish Ministers
Loans from the National Loans Fund, the Scottish Consolidated Fund and other Government borrowings are treated as part of
equity, including loan repayments due within one year, in accordance with the Scottish Water Governance Directions 2009.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2018
continued
27. Financial instruments and risks
The management of Scottish Water and the execution of strategy are subject to a number of risks as detailed below. All risks
are reviewed by the Board and appropriate processes are in place to monitor and mitigate them. See the Strategic report on
pages 11 to 13 and Corporate Governance report on pages 56 to 57.

a. Qualitative risk disclosures
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that Scottish Water is exposed to loss if another party fails to perform its financial obligation to
Scottish Water. Credit risk arises from cash, cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit
exposures to wholesale and retail customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. Scottish Water
monitors its credit exposure to its counterparties via their credit ratings (where applicable) and through its policy, thereby
limiting its exposure to any one party to ensure that they are within Board approved limits and that there are no significant
concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk for receivables and other financial assets is represented by
their carrying amount.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Scottish Water will have insufficient funds to meet its liabilities. Scottish Water’s policy is to ensure
that it has adequate financial resources to enable it to finance its day-to-day operations and capital investment programme,
based on cash flow projections, while adhering to the annual limits set by the Scottish Government for new borrowings.
Scottish Water’s borrowing powers are defined in Section 42 of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002.

Interest rate risk
All of Scottish Water’s borrowings are at fixed interest rates. Therefore Scottish Water is not deemed to bear any interest rate
risk.

Currency risk
In special circumstances, Scottish Water may use financial instruments to mitigate certain financial risk exposures such as foreign
exchange fluctuations. As such circumstances are rare, in addition to the approval of the Scottish Water Board, approval is
required from Scottish Ministers under the terms of section 42(3)(b) Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002.

b. Categories of financial assets and liabilities and fair values
Scottish Water’s financial assets and liabilities comprise trade and other receivables (note 13), cash and cash equivalents (note
14), borrowings (notes 18 and 19) and trade and other payables (note 15). No trading in derivative financial instruments was
undertaken.

Basis of determining fair value
The financial assets of the Group and the Company fall into the ‘loans and receivables’ category. The financial liabilities of the
Group and the Company fall into the category of ‘financial liabilities measured at amortised cost’.
Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction between informed
and willing partners, other than in a forced or liquidation sale, and excludes accrued interest.
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities, excluding borrowings, are equal to their fair values. Borrowings are held
at cost in the balance sheet but the fair value is disclosed in notes 18 and 19.

Credit risk
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits which are readily convertible to cash. These are subject to
insignificant risk of change in value or credit risk.

